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OCCASIONAL NOTES

AN 18th Century Mark of Servitude Found in Leatherhead.— During repairs carried out in 1923/1924 
.to  the old cottages in M ansion Alley, Church Street, Leatherhead, the object illustrated as colophon  

was found concealed behind wooden skirting in one o f  the room s; and it has lately been handed to me 
for identification by Mr. Herbert Reeves, who lived at The M ansion for a number o f  years.

It is an iron ring, with an inside diameter o f  3 |  inches; the exterior surface o f  the ring being flat, 
the interior convex. A t one side o f  its diameter the ring is hinged, the hinge projecting on the outer side, 
so that the interior is sm ooth. On the opposite side the ring is secured by a barrel lock, 1J inches long, 
brazed to projecting lips forged out from the exterior surface o f  the ring. The ring separates at one end 
o f  this lock when it is unfastened, so  that the unfastened ring has at one end a flat stub from which 
projects a fastening screw, and on the other end the barrel into which the screw is secured. In order to 
unlock the barrel Screw a special double-ended key is provided. The end o f  this key, which has two 
projecting tines, is inserted first, to  unscrew and remove a plug having on it a wormed screw. The key is 
then reversed and the other end o f  it inserted. The action o f  this is first a right-turning screw until it 
reaches a point where it grips the retaining screw o f  the lock, when the action is reversed to unfasten 
and expel the screw on the left-hand portion o f  the ring from the barrel on the right-hand portion. 
These actions are, o f  course, reversed for locking the ring.* On the surface o f  the ring, just below the 
plug-hole o f  the barrel lock, is stamped the word h a r d , while on the other side, near the hinge, appears 
the number “4 .” The key bears the number “2” just below the plug-releasing tines.

Another example o f  such a ring is illustrated in Country Life, 23rd February, 1956, page 344, where 
a correspondent to that journal states it to be a slave ring, such as was used where negro boys and girls 
were owned as servants in large houses. It has been suggested, on the other hand, that the present object 
might be a handcuff for securing the wrists o f  a prisoner behind his back; but experiment shows that the 
ring is not large enough to  hold two wrists together, and is too  large for one.

The general appearance o f the ring is also that o f  a date subsequent to Lord Mansfield’s famous 
judgm ent o f  1772, which laid down that a coloured slave setting foot in Britain became ipso facto  a free 
man; by which date slavery had, in any case, become unfashionable in England. The ring has certain 
characteristics o f  objects made in quantity for the Government, possibly by one o f  the early industrialists 
such as M athew Boulton. It is difficult to attribute even an approximate date to it, but it would be fair 
to  suggest that it was made som e time between 1780 and 1810.

Its exact use must remain a matter o f  speculation, but it may well have been the mark o f servitude 
which was worn around the upper arm or leg o f a convict; and the word h a r d  stamped upon it may 
afford a clue in that connection, for The Hard at Portsmouth was the place alongside which the convict 
hulks were moored. H ow  then, it may be asked, should such an object com e to  be concealed in a cottage 
in Leatherhead ? The solution o f  this which I offer is purely speculative, but is perhaps worth offering. 
To begin with, any convict wearing the official badge o f  servitude would, if  he escaped, be a marked man 
as long as he wore it. It would thus be a necessary preliminary to  his escape that he should possess 
him self o f  the key and unlock the ring. But, having done so, he must then take care not to jettison the 
ring and key (indestructible objects) in any place where, being later found, they might afford a clue to the 
direction in which he had gone. It might well have been, therefore, som e time before the convict was able 
to find som eone who was ready to help him in this respect. The m ost usual route from Portsmouth to 
London in those days was the old road following the approximate line o f Stane Street through Dorking 
and Leatherhead, and so any fugitive making for London may well have com e this way.

For the purely factual part o f this account I am much indebted to Mr. Norman Cook, F.S.A ., o f  
the Guildhall M useum, who examined the ring and made enquiries for me. F. B. BENGER.

*  »  *

FETCH AM  Parish Church.— Attention is drawn to an excellent little booklet, Fetcham Church Guide, 
recently published. This is the work o f our member Mr. J. G. W. Lewarne and should be in the 
hands o f  all who live in  Fetcham or worship in that church: indeed, it is o f  interest to  all our members 

wherever they may be. This scholarly account o f  a church which has, in various forms, occupied the 
same site for som e 1,000 years, is a m odel for others; clearly showing its author’s enthusiasm and 
revealing much o f  the wide and original research which has resulted in its com pilation. A. T. R.

* A similar lock is fitted to a pair o f  handcuffs now in Guildford Museum.

N i n t h  A n n u a l  G e n e r a l  M e e t i n g

H eld at the Council Offices, Leatherhead, on 16th November, 1955

THE report o f  the Executive Committee for 1954/1955 (a summary o f  which is given in “Secretarial 
N otes”) and the Accounts to 30th September, 1955, reproduced elsewhere in this issue, were duly 
adopted as presented. The members o f  the Committee and the H on. Auditor were re-elected en bloc. 

A  general discussion follow ed on a number o f  points raised by members. On a suggestion for two 
“outside district” visits instead o f  one in the summer, the meeting was in favour: on a discussion 
relative to the threatened dem olitions in Church Street it was explained that the Society did, in fact, make 
all possible protests where the building or site was o f  sufficient historic interest to justify its action. 
Other suggestions for photographic records o f  buildings likely to be destroyed; for re-registration by 
members o f  their Group interests; for further liaison with the Urban District Council; and for a special 
celebration for the Society’s Tenth Annual General Meeting, were noted for consideration and action.

At the conclusion o f  formal business, the members listened with interest to a talk with lantern slides 
on “ Coins and the Local Historian,” given by Dr. J. P. C. Kent, Ph.D ., M .A., o f  the Department o f  
Coins and Medals at the British Museum.
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SECRETARIAL NOTES

I
 HAVE pleasure in reporting that requests for information (including a record number o f inquiries for 
names for roads and even for houses), applications for lecturers, etc., indicate that interest in the 
Society’s work is well maintained and continues to keep your officers fully occupied. Much work is 

required “ behind the scenes” in meeting these requests, in maintaining the activities o f the Society, in 
dealing with applications for membership and the despatch o f  circulars, action in respect o f  development 
threats and many other items not obviously apparent in the absence o f opportunities for exciting fieldwork.

Membership has been fully maintained, but the much hoped for real increase has not yet materialised.

The following lectures and visits were arranged and took place during the year:
1954

18t'n November (At the Annual General Meeting.) A talk on “The Post-Glacial History of the 
British Flora,” by Dr. M. P. Topping.

11th December A  lantern lecture by Mr. J. H. Harvey, F.S.A ., on “Thomas Clay’s Survey of Great 
Bookham  in 1615.”

1955
25th January A talk by Mr. L. A. Edwards on “ Inland Waterways,” with special reference to 

Surrey waterways.

22nd February A talk on “The Howards o f Ashtead,” by Captain A. W. G. Lowther, F.S.A.

22nd March A lantern lecture by Mr. John Brooke on “ Fungi.”

30th April A visit to Polesden Lacy.

21st May A visit to Mickleham Church, conducted by the Rector of that parish, followed by a 
talk at Burford Bridge Hotel on “ The Locks o f Norbury and Fanny Burney,” by 
Mr. F. B. Benger.

25th June A visit to Petworth, Sussex.

9th July A  ramble on Ranmore Common, with talks by (1) Mr. W. H. E. Rivett on the 
geological features o f that district, and (2) by Miss J. C. Brown on the local 
vegetation.

18th September A conducted tour of Epsom, its celebrated well and old buildings in the town, led by 
Mr. P. G. Shelley and Mr. R. S. Wells, C.B.E. Mr. Wells is particularly thanked for 
having so kindly conducted the party over his own house and explained its history 
and architectural features.

As was explained at the Annual General Meeting, a projected “dig” during 1955 fell through as 
further air photographs revealed that the site was of no interest. Unfortunately, no other site is at present 
in view, but members will appreciate that sites cannot be made to order. N o  opportunity for fieldwork 
for Groups B and C arose, but it is expected that Group C will find more work available during 1956.

It is much regretted that the issue o f  the Proceedings was again delayed, but this was entirely due to 
difficulties with the printers.

The Society’s Library has, since its establishment at the County Library, been much more patronised 
by members, and your Committee hope that this feature o f the Society’s services will increase in interest 
and utility. Miss A. Skinner resigned as Hon. Librarian to the Society on leaving her post at the County 
Library. Mr. J. C. Williams, who succeeded her there, has kindly accepted the position of Hon. Librarian 
to the Society.

The Accounts to 30th September, 1955 (printed elsewhere in this issue), show that the balance in 
hand is £108 Os. 10d., an increase o f some £5 10s. Od. over the previous year. Again, the Accounts do not 
show the receipt o f  the Surrey County Council grant o f £15 (for 1955— since received) nor the cost (not 
ascertained at the time o f writing) o f  the 1955 Proceedings. The net result will, once more, be—at the 
best— a bare meeting of expenses from receipts and, possibly, a loss.

Members are urged to do their utmost to secure additional members in order that a more stable and 
satisfactory financial position may be attained. In this time o f ever-rising prices, your Committee are 
most anxious to avoid, if possible, any increase in the annual subscription.

Donations of any size to either the Library or General Funds will always be most welcome.
Subscriptions can be paid by banker’s order and any member who wishes to employ this method 

should get into touch with the Hon. Treasurer who will gladly forward the necessary form.
Indexing o f additions to the Society’s archives is in progress.

A. T. RUBY, Hon. Secretary.
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Reports of the Separate Groups
GROUPS AND LEADERS

“A H i s t o r i c a l  Records, MSS.  and Other Written Records.
Dr. A. K. R. Kiralfy, LL.M., Ph.D., 168 Cobham Road, Fetcham.

"B": Architecture, Buildings, Surveying, etc.
“ C” : Photography.

Mr. A. Day, 2 The Mount, Leatherhead.
Archaeology.

Capt. A. W. G. Lowther, F.S.A., A.R.I.B.A., The Old Quarry, The Warren, 
Ashtead.

"E": Natural History.
Mrs. M. P. Topping, Ph.D., Angroban, Fir Tree Road, Leatherhead.

“F ”: Arts, Crafts, Folklore, D ialect, etc.

REPORT OF GROUP “ A ” : M SS., Historical and Other Records

FE T C H A M . W ork on  the records o f  th is parish co n tin u es steadily  and energetica lly , but 
m uch o f  it m ust be spread over several years and it is difficult to  po in t to  m any item s or  

tasks that can be said to  be com pleted  at any tim e. A m o n g  these few, the F etcham  E nclosure  
A w ard and the T ithe A p portion m en ts have been cop ied  and  exam in ed  and the C hurchyard  
Plan has been finished. M any tasks in itiated  in earlier years continue .

Leatherhead. T he accu m ulation  o f  m aterial relating to  the lead in g  L eatherhead fam ilies  
o f  the 16th and 17th centuries has been a lm ost com p leted . T he fam ilies o f  Skeet, R ogers, 
G odm an, G ardiner and Sands dom inated  the scene for several generations and thu s im part a 
certain unity to  th is period o f  lo ca l h istory. In form ation  has a lso  been gathered a b ou t the  
Bludw orth fam ily , about w hich even  The V ictoria C oun ty  H is to ry  is co n fu sed ; and  a start has  
been m ade w ith the D a lton s. In several instances interesting links w ith national h istory have  
been discovered.

D uring the year the w elcom e new s w as given  that a num ber o f  m issing C ourt R o lls  and  
R entals o f  Pachenesham  M anor had  co m e to  light. T hese covered , roughly , the 1330s; on e  
o f  the early 15th century and m ost o f  the 16th and 17th centuries. T hey have been d ep osited  at 
the C ou nty  R ecord Office, K in gston -on -T ham es. T h ose  previous to  a . d . 1500 have been studied  
and throw  som e light on  the later period  o f  the m anor after the m anor h ou se  had been  
destroyed. T hese facts have been incorporated  in to  the m onograph  prepared by yo u r  hon . 
secretary on  the history o f  the early m anor and will be published  in due course.

T he d ocum ents since that date are being studied by Mr. F . B astian w h o , m eanw hile, 
records that in 1588 and a lso  in 1599 a certain G eorge Vargis w as ch osen  as C on stab le  for  
Leatherhead. T his nam e is a lso  fou n n d  near W est H orsley , a lternative sp ellin gs inc lu d ing  
“ Vergis,” “ V arges” and “ V erges.”  M r. B astian  ventures on  the sp ecu lation  w hether D ogb erry 's  
headborough in M uch A do A bou t N oth ing  w as nam ed after th is ind iv idu al. A s a basis for  this 
contem p lation , Mr. B astian poin ts out that, w hile the exact date o f  th is play is uncertain , the  
conclu sion  o f  G race R. Trenery, w h o ed ited  it for  the A rden Sh akespeare, is that it w as “ probab ly  
written between the co m p osition  o f  H en ry V  and A s You L ik e  I t  in  the latter part o f  the year  
1599,” and w onders w hether W illiam  Shakespeare had occa sio n  to  v isit E dm u nd T ylney, H er  
M ajesty's M aster o f  R evels and M asques, at the M ansion , L eatherhead , in con n ectio n  w ith  
H enry V  and thus by som e m eans m et the C on stab le  to  im m orta lise  h im  (or at least h is nam e) 
in his next play.

REPORT OF GROUP “ B” : Architecture, Buildings, Surveying, etc.

TH E first tw o  o f  the proposed  series o f  m aps o f  the L eatherhead area have been prepared and  
N o . 1 appears elsew here in this issue w ith the first o f  som e short articles by your hon . 

secretary on the picture o f  the district as d isclosed  by the m aps. T he final draw ing o f  the m aps 
for publication has been d on e by Mr. H. L. M eed.
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REPORT OF GROUP “ C ” : Photography
There is n o  specia l item  o f  interest to  record during 1955.

REPORT OF GROUP “ D ” : Archaeology
A  R e p o r t

on the Investigation o f  the moated site in “ G reatlee  W o o d ,”  Effingham 
(1952-1953) identified as that o f  the Manor House o f  “ E f f i n g h a m - l a - 
L e i g h ”  M a n o r —o f  early mediaeval date.

by A. T. RUBY, M.B.E.
A. W. G. LOW THER, F.S.A.

Introduction

TH E fo llo w in g  report has been com p iled  jo in tly  by Mr. A . T. Ruby and m yself. Mr. Ruby, 
w h o w as in charge o f  w ork at the site  for  both  season s, having w ritten that part dealing with  

the actual excavation s, w hile 1 have w ritten the rem ainder, and  prepared the draw ings o f  the  
pottery  and  sm all finds. T he ph otograp h s for the p late illustrations taken at the site were the  
w ork o f  M r. E. J. B lake and , ow in g  to  the trees and undergrow th on  the site affecting the light, 
w ere taken  w ith  difficulty.

T he report is d iv ided  in to  the fo llo w in g  four sec tio n s:—
1. N o te s  o n  the H istory  o f  the M anor.
2. R eport o n  the E xcavations.
3. T he Sm all F inds.
4. T he Pottery.

A . W . G . L O W T H E R .

1.—Notes on the History of the Manor
By A. W. G. LOWTHER, F.S.A.

TH E  fo llo w in g  extract from  M annin g  and  B ray’s H is to ry  o f  S u rrey  (V ol. 2, pages 710 and 711) 
is, in defau lt o f  any deeper research in to  the h istory o f  th is m anor w hich m ay yet be under­

taken , w orthy  o f  record in g  here.
“ T he M anor o f  Le L ye, Ley or L egh, appears to  be that w hich is m entioned  in D om esday  

to  be held  by O sw ald. O sw ald  de la L ega (L egh), in presence o f  W illiam  G iffard, B ishop o f  
W inchester, granted to  H ugh A b b o t o f  C hertsey all the tithes o f  his L ordship , o f  his land de la 
L ega, and  o f  E ffingham ; w itness G o d  and  his A n gels. T hese w ere afterw ards confirm ed to  the  
A b bey by B ish o p  G iffard, and  being  after that granted by A b b o t John  de R utherw yk and  the  
C o n v en t to  the Priory o f  M erton, th e  grant w as confirm ed by H enry W o d elok , B ishop o f  
W inchester, they payin g  yearly to  the A b b o t o f  C hertsey 50s. T hey are here said to  have belonged  
form erly to  P hilip  de la L ega (C hart. C hertsey A b b ey  in E xchequer, pages 30-35). [D ate  o f  this 
‘deal in tith es’ betw een  C hertsey and  M erton  (at a con v en tio n ) w as 23rd July, 1308— A .W .G .L .] 

“ . . . . E dw ard I. N ich o la s  de N ew en h am  held  o f  W illiam  de la L ye the fourth  part o f  a 
K n ig h t’s fee here by the service o f  6d. hom age and  su it to  h is C ourt de la Ley, and paying 10s. 
tow ards every scu tage o f  40s. (E dw . I, R o t. 5, 6). Perhaps this N ich o la s w as the sam e as N ich o la s  
le  G ros w h o  had a grant o f  free warren here in 13 Edw . I, 1285 (Cart. 13, Edw . I, n .12).

“ 5 Edw ard II, 1312. W alter de G ed d in ge  held this m anor jo in tly  w ith M aud or M atilda, 
his w ife, and  died leav ing  her surviving, and leaving T hom as, his son  and heir (E sch. 5, Edw. II, 
n.60). W alter w as Sheriff in  31 E dw ard I, 1302; in 1304 he had a grant o f  free warren here  
(C art. 33, E dw . I, n .74). In 1307 he again  w as Sheriff. H e is buried in the Church. (See m onu­
m enta l in scrip tion  N o . 1).
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“ 10 Edw ard II, 1317. T hom as de G ed d inge died seised  o f  the third part o f  a curtilage in 
Effingham , held o f  the Earl o f  G lou cester  by 4d. a year, and  other lands payin g  5s. 5§d. and  
doing suit to  his C ourt at Est C ourt. H e a lso  held 40 acres at P o lesd en , o f  the M anor o f  la L egh, 
which was in the hands o f  M atilda de G ed d inge; and he held tw o  acres o f  w o o d  and 29 acres at 
la  Place in Effingham , o f  the sam e M anor. H e a lso  held o f  Peter le . . .  at la  Place, a hall, 
cham ber, granary, and d ove-h ou se , by the service o f  Id . T h e  Jury fou n d  that W alter, son  o f  
W alter de G eddinge, the brother o f  T h om as, w as the heir apparent o f  T h o m a s, aged  24, but 
that the w ife o f  T hom as w as pregnant as it w as said , and near her tim e, and she had  m arried  
after the death o f  T hom as (not say ing  to  w hom ) (E sch. 10 Edw. I I, n. 42). W e hear no m ore o f  
this fam ily.

“ 2 Edw ard III, 1329. W illiam  de B ohun had a grant o f  free warren to  h im  and his heirs in 
Effingham  la Legh (Cart. 2, Edw . I l l ,  n .60). In the 8th o f  that reign, W illiam  de la  L egh, son  
and heir o f  W illiam  de la Legh o f  H ertyng in Sussex, had lands in Effingham .

“ T he M agna Britannia  m en tion s the ruins o f  an antien t seat b e lon g in g  to  the fam ily  o f  
A t Lee o f  this place, overgrow n w ith bushes. In the upper part o f  the Parish is a h ou se still 
(1810) called  ‘Lee H o u se’ ; and in the low er part is a w o o d  called  ‘L ee W ood ,' in w hich is a m oat 
nearly square, inc losin g  som eth in g  m ore than an acre o f  land , n o w  overgrow n w ith  cop se , w o o d , 
and trees. T he h ou se and w o o d s b elong  to  Mr. B rock holes' estate  (In form . R ev. W . Farley, 
Vicar.)

v T his m anor w as sold  by John L egh, Esq., to  H enry V III (probab ly  in his 35th year, w hen  
he sold  P adington to  him ; see page 141. It was granted by Edw ard VI to  W illiam  L ord  H ow ard, 
as m entioned under the M anor o f  Effingham , and has been absorbed  in and passed w ith that, 
ever s in ce .”

T he inscribed brass plate o f  W alter de G ed d inges in Effingham  Church is described by 
M ajor H eales in Surrey A rchaeolog ica l C ollec tions,V r> \.IX ;  n o tes m ade by h im  in 1884. In 1914, 
M ill Stephenson  (Su rrey A rchaeolog ica l C ollec tion s , V ol. X X V III) co u ld  read on ly  five o f  the  
w ords it had becom e so  w orn and  dam aged.

It appears to  have read orig in a lly :—-

V A (L )T E R  : D E  : G E D D IN G G E S  : G IST  :
IC I : D (I)E V  : A  : S A  : A L M E  :

E A (I)C E  : M E R C I.

A pparently , to o , it m ay refer either to  W alter w h o  died  in 1312, or to  h is son  o f  th is nam e, 
and w h o  m ay have died  a b ou t 1330. It seem s, how ever, in  v iew  o f  the fa ther’s im portance  
(having on three occasion s been Sheriff o f  the C ou nty) m ore likely  that the brass form ed  part o f  
his tom b and dates to  1312.

From  the foregoing , it appears fairly certain that the de G ed d in ge  (or de G ed d inges) 
fam ily were the first actual occu pants o f  our m oated  m a n or-h ou se  site  o f  w h o m  w e have  any  
record, and that they w ere there as tenants o f  the de la  L eghs. It is, how ever, p o ssib le  that 
N ich o la s le G ros, w h o w as granted free warren here in  1284, w as th e  ten an t o f  the d em esne at 
this earlier date and this m ay be capab le  o f  p r o o f or d isproof.

H ow ever, if, after the death  o f  the brothers T hom as and  W alter de la L egh, W illiam  de 
Bohun w as the final tenant to  reside here, it w ou ld  accord fairly well w ith the date o f  the latest 
pottery which the excavations have produced, since the latter appears to  be o f  the m id-14th  
century. T his is the very latest to  w hich it can be dated and a slightly  earlier term inal date  is 
perhaps (by com parison  w ith  the pottery from  T he M ounts) m ore probab le. In th is case  it m ay  
well be that the site w as never again occu p ied  after the death o f  the last o f  the de G ed d inges, 
and som etim e betw een 1320 and 1330 it w as finally  aban don ed .

Even at its best, a m anor h ou se on such a site , surrounded by w et and w ater-logged  land  
for m uch o f  the year, can  never have been a healthy o n e , and  th is, as well as increasing ideas o f  
com fort as regards m anor hou ses in the 14th century, m ust have had m uch to  do w ith the final 
abandonm ent o f  dw ellings o f  th is type.
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2.—Report on the Excavations—1952 & 1953
By A. T. R U BY, M.B.E.

TH E S E  ex cavation s were carried o u t by m em bers o f  the L eatherhead and D istrict L ocal 
H istory  Society  and o f  the Surrey A rch aeo log ica l Society  and w ith the w elcom e help o f  one  

or tw o  other volunteers. T he w ork , in 1952, w as preceded by a con to u r  survey o f  the site m ade  
by m em bers o f  G rou p  “ B ” o f  the Leatherhead Society  under Mr. F oster  E lliott, and again with 
other volun tary  help. Our grateful thanks are due to  Mr. A . E. M urrells, ow ner o f  the site, for  
havin g  granted perm ission for  the excavation s to  be carried out.

T he objective  o f  the w ork was lim ited  to  ascertaining the va lue o f  the site, its date, and what 
( if  anyth ing) o f  structural or datab le value m ight be fou n d  there. T his aim  can be said to  have  
been attained , and it is clear that the site is rich in interest and is on e  which requires, and m erits, 
full ex ca v a tio n — one-carried  out on  a larger scale than is at present possib le. T he brief period  
w hich co u ld  be d evoted  to  the w ork (eight days in 1952, and  on ly  w eek-end w ork in the sum m er  
o f  1953) w hile adequ ate  for a trial excavation  w as n ot enou gh  for anyth ing m ore extensive (such  
as th e  tw o  m o n th s’ co n tin u o u s w ork  that w ere needed  to  deal w ith the area w ithin the m oated  
area at T he M ou n ts in 1949, qu ite apart from  that in the tw o  previous seasons). It is hoped that 
a full sea so n  can be arranged in the not to o  d istant future w hen  there is little d ou bt that results 
o f  considerab le  interest and arch aeolog ica l im portance w ill be ob ta ined  from  this site.

T H E  SIT E
T he earthw ork  is situated  in a w o o d  (G reatlee  W ood) to  the w est o f  the road from  Effingham  

village  to  the railw ay (m ap ref. 10785488). It con sists  o f  a roughly  square area, an acre in extent, 
surrounded  by a m oat, n ow  o f  varying w idth . It is thickly covered  by you n g  trees, oak, birch, 
hazel, etc., but large trees have at the present tim e all been rem oved . T he com parative  absence  
o f  undergrow th m ade a w elcom e change from  the w ork at T he M ounts, which we carried out 
in previous years. T he su b so il con sists  o f  clay  w ith  “ rafts” o f  sand and patches o f  a m ixture o f  
the tw o  near the surface. T he w h ole  area is dam p and w aterlogged  during m uch o f  the year, and, 
apart from  reasons o f  “ d efen ce,” it is difficult to  understand w hy it w as ch osen  for a dw elling site.

T he site plan (F ig . 3) sh ow s, by an irregular so lid  line, the con tou r  o f  the edge o f  the area 
inside the m oat, the con to u r  bend ing back by the causew ay on  the south  side to  the outer banks o f  
the m oat. T his central area does n ot vary in height by m ore than 1 fo o t, except at the tw o  south  
corners w here the dotted  lines ind icate areas betw een 2 and 3 feet higher than the contours. 
T his extra height m ight be due to  successive clearing out o f  the m oat o n  various occasion s. In  
the north corn er o f  the site is a large depression  (n o w  a pond) dropp ing som e 18 inches to  the 
edge o f  the w ater in it. P ossib ly , as foun d  at the P reston H o u se  site near B anstead by Mr. 
H o p e-T ay lor , th is p on d  is an original feature o f  the site.

T he ed ge  o f  the w ater in the m oat at the date o f  the survey is sh ow n by the broken lines 
nearly surrounding the central area. T his edge is som e 3 feet below  the con to u r  line representing  
the perim eter o f  that area, and the outer bank clim bs up again to  a height above the water line  
varying from  7 feet on  the sou th , to  on ly  2 feet o n  the north . T he high ground on  the south, 
o u ts id e  the m oat, w ou ld  suggest that the site w as n ot chosen  prim arily for its defensive  
cap ab ilities, un less, as at Preston H ouse m entioned  above , there was originally  a separate  
defensive ou tw ork , or tow er, situated there.

T he broken parallel straight lines sh ow  the situation  o f  a “ ride,” or clearing, through the  
w o o d  w hich , because o f  its open  nature, w as ch osen  for setting o u t the baseline o f  the initial 
survey.

T he causew ay interrupting the m oat to  the sou th  m ay be the original entrance, or (if, as at 
T h e M ou n ts, entrance w as by a bridge over the m oat) m ade after the aban don m en t o f  the site  
and for the purpose o f  hau ling tim ber, but th is is purely conjectural. E ventually , search should  
be carried o u t for a m etalled  road or backw ay lead ing to  the site , such as that w hich was found  
at T he M ounts. T he p o sition  o f  the trenches dug in 1952 and 1953 is indicated on Fig. 3.

T H E  M O A T
T he situ ation  o f  the cu t (trench 1) to  be m ade through the m oat w as selected  for a variety o f
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reasons. It w as on  the survey baseline, and therefore conven ien t lo r  su osequ en t p lotting: it was 
at a w ide and fairly im portant lo o k in g  part o f  the site (assum ing the causew ay to  be, as suggested , 
an original feature) w ith  the prom ise  o f  m ore results than m ight be expccted  from  the narrow  
parts: thirdly (and  o f  m ost im portance), w hen  the w ork com m enced  it was actually  free from  
surface water. U n fortu n ate ly , interm itter.t but heavy dow np ours during the course o f  the 
excavation s delayed the w ork and , in the end (as the section , F ig . 1, sh ow s), m ade it quite  
im possib le  to  com plete  the section  or d iscover the orig ina l depth o f  the m oat. In the second  
sea so n  (1953) the trench, w hich had been left open , rem ained full o f  water throughout the year 
and w ork  co u ld  not have been resum ed there w ithout the use o f  a pum p. A. view  o f  the trench  
is sh ow n  on  P late I.

A fter  m arking out the trench , the first cu t w as m ade in the centre, and the second day’s work  
produced a few  fragm ents o f  13th-century pottery and the rem ains o f  an a lm ost com plete  cook ing- 
p ot (P late VI and F ig . 1) w ith so m e pieces o f  anim al bor.es that had apparently been inside it 
w hen throw n in to  the m oat. T his p e t, frcm  its form  and ware, is attributable to  a date late in 
the 13th century ( vide  report on  th e  pottery). Som e add itional vo lun teer helpers then arrived, 
enab ling  the cut to  be extended up both  slopes. The centre w as dug to  a depth o f  3 feet, the slope  
to  betw een 2  and 3 feet (S ection  1, F ig . 1). T his w ork revealed a layer o f  thick grey clay, o f  an 
appearance and con sisten cy  w hich w as uniform  through out the w h ole  trench, sterile o f  finds, 
and characterised  o n  both  slopes by patches o f  lo o se  grit, the so-term ed “ sp lit-peas” o f  
arch aeolog ists. C lose  to  reference peg 9, there w as a sudden drop in th is level, so  sharp as to  
suggest it w as n o t a natural occurrence. A s w ill be seen from  F ig . 1, there w as a definite crescent­
shaped area o f  very m oist so il and vegetab le  m atter w hich suggests that, after the sides o f  the  
original m oat had  partially  co lla p sed , the centre m ay have been re-dug. T his co u ld  accou nt for  
the ad d ition al heigh t o f  the inner area in the part o f  the site. T he other le \e ls  excavated were o f  
c lay  and  sand  in m ixtures o f  varying proportions and clearly form ed by a process o f  silting. 
By peg  3, a raft o f  sand w as uncovered .

A t the top  o f  the inner bank an interesting discovery was that o f  an area o f  large flints 
exten d ing  14 feet dow n in to  the m oat. P ossib ly  these flints on ce  form ed part o f  a parapet or 
co n ta in in g  wall round the inner edge  o f  the m oat (P late I ) .1 A lthou gh  a few  flints had obviou sly  
fa llen  from  th e  outer  bank, n o  sim ilar flin t-strew n area w as fou n d  o n  that side o f  the m oat, so  
far as the trench w as carried in that d irection .

T H E  C E N T R A L  A R E A
W hen w ork w as resum ed, in 1953, a tten tion  w as turned to  the central area, and trench 2 

w as set ou t as an exp loratory  trench  to  pass through  the centre o f  the site , in a region w hich had  
t e e n  partially  cleared o f  un dergrow th  for th e  pu rp oses o f  the survey. E ven  so , it was not possib le  
to  avo id  entirely the interruption o f  the line selected , since som e large roots and tree stum ps 
w ere present at p o in ts  a lo n g  it and w ou ld  have taken up to o  m uch tim e to  rem ove.

A fter  m arking o u t the prop osed  trench, 3 feet in w idth  and exten ding  for as far as seem ed  
co n ven ien t, a start w as m ade o n  the w ork. A  slight rise in the ground, and som e flin ts o n  the 
surface, had suggested  possib le  structures underlying at on e  poin t, and w ork here w as alm ost 
im m ed iately  rew arded by th e  d iscovery o f  a flint and m ortar wall and o f  another sim ilar wall 
nearby (F ig . 2— w alls at pegs 15 and  1). T he subsequent w ork th rou gh ou t the length  o f  the  
trench can  b est be described as a w h o le  w ith  reference to  the trench plan and section  (F ig. 2 
reproduced in segm ents on accou nt o f  its length).

T he general sequence o f  the levels and  their co m p o sitio n  w a s : first the hum us (unstratified  
to p so il, but w ith m any shreds o f  pottery both  in and up on  it); level 1, a dark, brow nish earth 
with chalk  particles in it in  p laces; level 2, a chalk , or chalk  “c o b ,” floor w ith, in places, an 
earlier chalk  floor beneath  it; level 4, a ligh t sand and clay so il, except in pit 7 and the gully at 
peg 19 w here level 4  consisted  o f  a dark sludge or silt m aterial; level 5, the natural subsoil, 
co n sistin g  in p laced  o f  greyish sand or o f  a yellow ish  sandy clay  and, elsew here, o f  a ye llow  clay, 
free from  sand.

Starting from  the eastern end  (peg  0) and  proceed ing  w estw ard , the features uncovered  
F ig . 2) w ere: a w all o f  flints, som e dressed, 2 feet w ide and with a “ beam  slo t” (apparently for a
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sleeper beam ) set nearer the outer side; a length  o f  chalk  “co b "  floor (level 2) w ith a post-hole  in 
it; at peg 3, beneath an area where the chalk floor had been built, a trial h o le  exposed  a packed  
co llectio n  o f  flints, 9 inches to  10J inches th ick  and resting on  a layer (level 4) o f  lo a m  contain ing  
p ottery , ch arcoal and  som e bones, and  resting im m ediately  ab ove  the subsoil.

A t th is po in t, the trench w as perforce interrupted by the presence o f  a tree, but the part 
beyond  (peg  5 to  peg  8) y ie ld ed  m o st o f  the pottery  foun d  and also  m uch build ing m aterial. 
By peg  6 the rem ains o f  another flint w all cam e to  ligh t, and at peg  7, a  sm all rubbish pit (term ed  
pit 7) w as foun d. Jt w as som e 18 inches deep and 24 to  30 inches in diam eter (P late II). T his pit 
co n ta in ed  on e  or tw o  flints, part o f  six  or m ore large co o k in g  p o ts o f  shell-gritted  ware, and one  
sherd (part o f  the rim o f  a co o k in g -p o t) o f  dark ware, w ith ou t shell-grit, and som e oyster shells. 
Just beyon d  the p it were a num ber o f  lo o se  cha lk  b locks, in level 1, and , presum ably, debris 
from  so m e structure.

F ro m  th is p o in t as far as the next baulk, that at peg 11, the trench was taken dow n to  the  
su b so il through  a chalk -floor level (level 2) w hich, for m ost o f  its length , was at a depth o f  som e  
9 inches from  th e  surface. N ear  p eg  9, w here the chalk  ended , a short bay w as cut at right-angles 
to  the m ain trench  in order to  see  w hether a w all ran parallel to  and  ju st outsid e the m ain trench  
(as then seem ed possib le), but the cu t in question  d isproved this and , at its northern end, a 
spread o f  tightly  packed  p ebb les w as foun d . N o  flints appeared in the m ain trench at this poin t, 
and the break in the chalk  floor foun d  here (as w ell as the chalk b locks at peg 8) sh ow ed  that som e  
“ ro b b in g ” had  taken  p lace  here at so m e date.

T o  return to  the m ain trench— the area from  peg 11 to  peg 15 w as o f  considerable interest. 
T here w as first a cha lk  “ c o b ” floor, w ith  a few  flints em bedded  in it and , 7 feet farther a long , a 
hearth o f  fire-cracked flints laid in con cen tric  rings (P late III) approxim ately  3 feet in diam eter  
a nd  o n  th e  sam e leve l as the floor. (C f. the  sim ilar but larger, 6 feet diam eter, hearths at T he  
M ou n ts.) T he floor term inated  abruptly som e 18 inches beyond the hearth, and excavation  
disc losed  an oth er  sm o o th  level cha lk  floor at a depth  6 inches low er dow n, and  thus o f  an earlier 
period . T he chalk  floor on the higher level sh ow ed , on exam in ation , that it w as com p osed  o f  
so m e four d istin ct layers w ith a line o f  charcoal betw een each , as th ou gh  it had  been laid dow n in 
separate “ sp reads” (a w et m ixture o f  earth and  chalk , and  each dried by w o o d  or charcoal fires 
before the next layer w as spread upon it. A lternatively , these layers cou ld  have been form ed by 
su ccessive  renew al o f  the floor, from  tim e to  tim e, w ith new m aterials. Large chalk  b lcck s  
ju st beyor.d are to  be seen in th e  right foreground o f  P late IV . P late III sh ow s the upper  
hearth in the centre and set in the “ period 2” lam in ated , chalk  cob , floor; the earlier, and lower, 
chalk  floor appearing in th e  left foreground.

B eyon d  the cut carried dow n to  the low er chalk  floor, there w as a  thin con tin u an ce  o f  the  
upper floor on  the sam e level as before and , o n  being  cut aw ay, it was fou n d  to  cover  a low er  
hearth o f  fire-cracked flints, contem p orary  w ith  the low er floor.

T he w estern  lim its o f  the low er floor w ere n o t determ ined, but, a b tu t  1 fo c t  from  peg 15, 
it had disappeared as w as sh ow n by a trial h o le  taken dow n to  the atural subsoil. T he  
base o f  anoth er w all at th is p o in t, o f  large flints set in m ortar, has a w idth  o f  3 feet 6 inches, but 
it is p ossib le  that part o f  th is w idth w as due to  outw ard “ spread” o f  the rem aining few  courses o f  
flints. F urther w ork  to  determ ine the w idth o f  the fo u n d a tio n s by cutti g through it was not 
consid ered  desirable at this early stage in the excavation .

T he w estern  edge  o f  this wall w as estab lished  by a cu t, carried d o w .i to  the subsoil, but
2 feet farther on  there w as a level ledge, 2  feet w ide, o f  packed sm all flints, q te easily  d istinguished  
from  the debris o f  the w all itself. T his ledge, 9 inches from  the surface, c ded abruptly and the  
next e igh t feet o f  the trench con ta in ed  n o  specia l features as far a lm ost u >eg 18. The section  at 
this po in t im plies anoth er area o f  disturbance. A t peg 20 the base o f ; ct another flint wall was 
fou n d , the upper surface, after a w idth  o f  2 feet, fa lling  to  a level son  7 or 8 inches lower. 
A  layer o f  flints and  debris adjo in in g  th is w all w as spread over an area ex  i d ing as far eastw ards 
as beyond  peg 18. F or 12 inches each  side o f  peg 19 this spread w;; terrupted, and here 
appeared  w h at seem s to  have  been a “ g u lly ,” or  “ gutters,” cu t in to  the la er o f  flint rubble and  
( l ik e  a  sim ilar feature at T he M ounts) probab ly  designed  to  receive rain water from  the roof, 
and situated at the fo o t o f  an outer  wall.
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A t p eg  20, the trer.ch w as again  interrupted for  3 feet through the presence o f  a large tree 
stum p, but traces o f  the w all w ere still present at the final peg, N o . 21. (P late IV gives a general 
v iew , lo o k in g  eastw ards, from  peg 18.)

T R E N C H  3
F o r  such tim e as rem ained availab le, short lengths o f  trench were dug at tw o  convenien t 

p o in ts  parallel to  trench 2 and at its eastern end. T hese, designated  “ trench 3 ,” sh ow  rem ains o f  
a wall in line w ith that at peg 1, w ith d isturbed ground outsid e it, and traces o f  chalk  floor inside. 
T he m ore easterly section  w as n o t com p leted , but, apart from  further traces o f  a chalk  floor, it 
w as filled w ith build ing debris and  bore m uch evidence o f  post-occu p ation a l “ robb in g .” 

B U IL D IN G  M A T E R IA L S
A part from  a few  tile  fragm ents from  under the flint debris at peg 21, all tiles and dressed  

ston es foun d  occurred east o f  peg 8 (trench 3, betw een pegs 5 and 7 had a particularly large 
quantity  o f  broken ro o f tiles) and  on e  helper succeeded  in finding here on e  com plete  ro o f tile—  
an object w h ich  had failed  to  turn up  at T he M ounts in the four season s’ w ork there, and  
desp ite the m any cart-loads o f  broken r o o f  tiles uncovered  there. [This tile, slightly convex , is 
o f  a brow n co lo u r  and coarse  texture, and m easures 6 |  inches by 1 0 f inches. T he tw o  irregular­
shaped  h o les for the pegs (or oak  “ pins”) to  hang them  on the battens, are 3J inches apart and
11 inches from  on e  end o f  the tile.]

D ressed  b lock s, or p ieces o f  b locks, o f  “ R eigate  sa n d sto n e ,” sh ow ing  to o lin g  or axe m arks, 
w ere found both  in the w all at places and  lo o se  in the debris. A  considerable  num ber o f  iron 
nails, o f  varying sizes, turned up, including the 2-ir.ch headless “ sp ik es” used for securing the  
battens to  the rafters. O ne nail, 2 f  inches long, rectangular in cross-section , and w ith a flat 
round  head , is in an  a lm ost perfect state o f  preservation, apparently through accidental 
preservative treatm ent due to  its havin g  been in a fire.

(T he pottery from  the ex cavation  is, like the few  sm all finds, described further on .)

G E N E R A L  C O N C L U S IO N S
T he site has clearly been occu p ied  from  at least the late 12th to  the early 14th century. The  

V ictoria  C oun ty H is to ry  (Surrey, V ol. 3) records that the m anor o f  Effingham  la Leigh (on e  o f  
three E ffingham  m anors) w as a lleged  C hertsey A b bey  property as early as a .d . 675; that it 
descended  w ith Effingham  Place C ourt (anoth er o f  the three m anors and at on e  tim e the Lord 
H igh A d m ira l’s property) to  Law rence D o w n e  w h o  died seised  o f  it in 14782 ; that after that date  
there is n o  trace o f  it as a separate m anor and  it apparently becam e am algam ated  w ith  Effingham  
Place C ourt: that the m oated  en closure in Lee W ood  is probab ly  the site o f  the old  m anor house  
o f  La Leigh.

T he period  o f  the m anor extended  as a b ove  from  a . d . 675 to  1478, but this does not, o f  
cou rse , m ean that there w as necessarily  a m anor h o u se  in ex isten ce over the sam e period , nor  
that it w as a lw ays o n  the sam e site. T he finds to  date do n o t suggest any such  extended  
o ccu p ation . Indeed , they w ou ld  m ore nearly accord w ith  the disuse o f  it so o n  after 1320 when, 
accord in g  to  V .C .H . {op. c it.)  John  de la L eigh “ released all h is right in the m anor o f  La Leigh  
to  M aster John W alew ayn, apparently  w ith rem ainder (as in Effingham  Place C ourt) to  W m . de 
B o h u n .”

T he few  fragm ents o f  R om an  bricks, tiles and pottery fou n d  do not suggest any pre- 
C on q u est occu p ation  o f  the site. T hey m ay well have been brought from  the R om an  site found  
by Mr. Sheppard Frere at C hatley  Farm , C ob h am ,3 w hich is o n ly  som e three m iles or so  distant, 
in  the sam e w ay as R om an  tiles from  A shtead  C o m m on  fou n d  their w ay to  T he M ounts.

W ith  on ly  o n e  trench  excavated , it w ou ld  be id ls to  sp ecu late  to  any exten t o n  the actual 
size, sh a p s or type o f  the m anor h ou se . It d oes seem  clear, how ever, that exten sions and re­
con stru ctio n s to o k  place from  tim e to  tim e during its existence. T he outerm ost w alls o f  flint 
are 100 feet apart, a m uch greater span  th an  at T he M ounts, but it is possib le  that the wall at 
peg 15 w as the w estern end, w h ich  w ou ld  give a m ore reasonable length  o f  70 feet. T he long

1 For similar feature, cf. excavations at Northolt Archaeological Newsletter, Vol. 4, No. 7, page 111.
2 Chanc. Inqns. P .M ., 18 Edw. IV, N o. 14.
3 Surrey Archaeological Collections, Vol. 50, page 73.
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stretch o f  chalk  " co b ” floor in the centre ind icates that it w as n ot a case  o f  there being  tw o  
buildings side by side in th is area. T he great chalk  b locks suggest interior w alls or partitions, 
and there is little  doubt that a  co m p lete  excavation , i f  undertaken , w ou ld  d isc lose  a m edieval 
m anor h o u se  plan o f  considerable  interest.

The use  o f  tiles for  the roof-coverin g  is to  be noted . T he hearth at peg 13, w h ich  is sim ilar  
in appearance to  the late 13th-century hearths at T he M ounts, w ill be w orth  w atch in g  w hen  
further excavations take p lace, to  see i f  it is as near to  an outsid e  w all as w ere the tw o  hearths  
o f  Sir E ustace de H ach e at that site.

A S at T he M ounts, and un like m o st R om an  sites excavated , few  objects o f  the type term ed  
“ sm all finds” cam e to  ligh t during the excavation s. A p art from  su ch  item s as nails (both  the  

ordinary type w ith  flat round heads and head less “ sp ik es” for  securing la ths, o f  w h ich  m any  
were foun d) or stap les, w h ich  had  been em ployed  in the con stru ction  o f  the bu ild in gs o n  the site, 
only the five objects here described w ere foun d.

1. B roken fo o t from  the leg  o f  a cast-bronze cau ldron , such  as the o n e  figured here w h ich  
is in the G uild hall M useum , and  w as fou n d  in L o n d o n , in W ater L ane. A  sim ilar, but larger  
and m ore roughly  m ade fo o t, N o . 2, w as fo u n d  in th e  ex cavation s at T he M ounts. B o th  are 
probably o f  a date abou t 1280-1300, but there is to o  little  k n ow n  a b ou t m ediaeval bronze  
cauldrons to  arrive at any c loser  date.

3. B ronze “ rin g-brooch ,”  com p lete  w ith pin . A  co m m o n  m ed iaeval type, it, like the last- 
m entioned objects, ca n n o t be dated c lo se ly , but the fo llo w in g  a b ou t them  is q u o ted  from  the  
L ondon M useum 's M ediaeval C ata logue, page 274: “ T he plainer form s o f  circular b rooch , 
consistin g  sim ply o f  a ring o f  m etal and a transverse p in , had  a m ore varied  use. T hey  are m ost  
frequently represented as w orn at the throat; where the blunt p in  passed  through  tw o  prepared  
slits and fastened  the open in g  o f  the undergarm ent, a u sage identica l w ith  that o f  the m ore  
elaborate decorated brooches. Plain circular b rooches w orn in th is w ay can be seen on  the  
sculptured figures o f  the 12th-century d oorw ay at V alcabrere (H au te  G aron ne;, and  in the 13th- 
century representations are very co m m o n , e .g ., on  the sculptures o f  W ells C athedral, c irca  1235-

3.—The Small Finds
By A. W. G. LOWTHER, F.S.A.
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1240; . . . .  o n  eftigy N o . 10 in the T em ple C hurch, L on d on , 1250-1275. In the 14th century  
the undergarm ent is n o t ordinarily  v isib le  at the neck, but the use o f  these  brooches continued  
as before. T w o  w ere foun d  in O xford , a ssociated  w ith  burials o f  W hite Friars, w h ose house  
w as fo u n d ed  in 1318 .”

4. Iron  drop-h and le , o f  rectangular section , and  w ith  pla in  kn ob  term inals. N o  parallels 
have  been fo u n d  by the writer, but the type, as part o f  the furniture o f  a drawer (or chest o f  
draw ers?), is o ften  fo u n d  at R o m a n  sites; e .g ., the  sim ilar handles, but o f  bronze, found at the  
ex cavation s at R ichborough  (S econ d  R eport, Plate X V , F ig. 1, and Third R eport, Plate X II, 
F ig . 1).

5 and 6. W hetston es o f  m icaceou s sch ist, and , 7, a sim ilar  on e  from  T he M ounts. On 
w h etstones o f  th is m aterial and their assignm ent to  N orm an  tim es, the L on d on  M useum ’s 
M ed iaeval C ata logu e records, page 293; “ In the M useum  are a num ber o f  h on es o f  m icaceous  
sch ist that are a lm ost certain ly  early m ediaeval (12th  century). H o n es o f  this m aterial are absent 
from  preh istoric  and  R om an  dep osits in th is country , but have been foun d  at a num ber o f  sites  
o f  the N o rm a n  period , but not later, in sou th-eastern  E ngland. T he ston e  is foreign to  the south  
o f  E nglan d , but exten sive  dep osits are fou n d  in B rittany, and hones o f  the lo ca l sch ist have been  
fou n d  at a few  early m ediaeval sites in France. See G . C. D u n n in g  in P roceedings o f  the Isle o f  
W ight N a tu ra l H is to ry  an d  A rchaeolog ica l S o c ie ty , V ol. II (1937), page 682.

T he tw o  specim ens from  L ee W o o d  were both  foun d  with pottery o f  probable 13th century  
date, but, as both  are w ell w orn from  use, as w ell as being  broken, they are likely to  have  
rem ained in use for a considerab le  period , as d o their m ore m odern counterparts at the present day.

4.—The Pottery
Report by A. W. G. LOWTHER, F.S.A.

S
U M  M A R  Y: A s  w ith  the pottery fo u n d  at the P achenesham  site, the Lee W o o d  pottery falls 
in to  three m ain  c lasses, v iz .:  1. Shell-gritted  w are (heavily  gritted w ith p ou nd ed  oyster shell);

2. H ard , sandy w are, very sim ilar to  so m e R om an  coarse ware; and, 3. G lazed  ware, both  early, 
“ p a tch y ” -g lazed  vessels and , later, w ell-g lazed  w are o f  a very hard red or brown-red clay.

T hese three general types d o  n o t, in them selves, b e lon g  to  separate periods, or assist on e  in 
arriving at the date o f  the ind ividual vessels concerned , th ou gh  the varieties w ith in  each  group, 
w hich have to  be stud ied  separately , b e long  to  d istinct m akes w hich can be identified by both  
the w are (w h ite  sandy w are, hard red ware, etc.) and differing types o f  vessel for w hich it 
w as em ployed .

T hu s, at the sam e date as the earliest coarse , shell-gritted  co o k in g -p o ts  (o f  about a .d . 1200) 
w ere in use at T he M ou n ts, vessels m ade o f  a thin hard ware, vastly  superior to  the shell-gritted  
p o ts , w ere being  used  and  the tw o  k inds w ere fou n d  togeth er in stratified layers o f  the earliest 
o ccu p a tio n . It is clear that these  large and fairly brittle shell-gritted  p ots w ere m ade locally . 
N o t  o n ly , ow in g  to  their size (though som e few  foun d  were fairly sm all) and brittleness, could  
they  n ot have been brought from  afar, but they are surfaced w ith red-ochre, a m aterial (in its 
y e llo w , unburnt, state) present in the lo ca l clay. T he other types o f  pottery were, how ever, 
clearly im ported  from  a variety  o f  different sites as the w idely  varying types o f  clay o f  which  
they  are m ade ind icates.

O w ing to  the sm aller exten t o f  the w ork at L ee W o o d  com pared  w ith  that carried out at 
T he M ounts, a m uch sm aller quantity  o f  pottery  w as fou n d  at the form er site and on ly  a sm all 
proportion  o f  it w as foun d  in sealed  or stratified levels. T he on ly  sm all pit (apparently filled with  
rubbish, rather than having, as that at T he M ounts, been m ade expressly as a receptacle for the 
kitchen  refuse) w as that, term ed pit 7, in trench 2. T he ruins o f  shell-gritted  pots found in it 
are all o f  early type, as sh ow n  by com p arison  w ith  th o se  from  the extrem e b o tto m  o f  the large 
rubbish  p it, o f  circa  a . d . 1200, at T he M ounts, w ith w hich they  are in very c lose  agreem ent, both  
as regards shape and  ware.

A  p o in t that is notew orth y  regarding the earliest shell-grit pots from  both  sites is that, 
th o u g h  identica l as regards r im -section  (e .g ., N o s . 2, 3 and 4, w hich are exactly  the sam e as one
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A SHORT HISTORY OF BOOKHAM, SURREY—Pt. II
By JOHN H ARVEY, F.S.A.

W H IL E  B ook h am  had m ade great progress in the 12th century, still ev id en ced  by the structures 
o f  the tw o  churches, the 13th saw  the ach ievem ent o f  an urban status hardly w arranted by 

the facts, and unequalled  in  later tim es. F or, on  the 15th June, 1243, H enry III granted to  A b b o t  
Alan o f  Chertsey and the con ven t there the right to  h o ld  a m arket at their m anor o f  “ B o ch a m ” 
every w eek  o n  T uesday, and a fair for tw o  days every year o n  the eve and  day o f  M ichaelm as. 
T he annual fair had dw indled to  on e  o f  a single day on M ichaelm as by 1548, and died  o u t so o n  
after 1792; the w eekly m arket can n ot be traced in later records, and  it is likely that it so o n  fell 
out o f  use. But the fact that it w as ever granted p roves that B o o k h a m , under the rule o f  the  
abbots, had m ade great advances in  prosperity at the very tim e that L eatherhead  w as declin ing  
from  its ancient status as the county  to w n .1 T his is confirm ed by B o o k h a m ’s netw ork o f  roads 
already described, and certainly in full use at the tim e.

T he earliest o f  the B ook h am  charters cop ied  into  the C hertsey C artulary2 is o f  the tim e o f  
A b bot M artin (1197-1206) and  records a grant to  W illiam  “ch a p la in ” o f  B o o k h a m  o f  1 acre o f  
land w hich G ilbert le H uchier held and on  w hich the sa id  W illiam  has built his hou ses, and  
22 acres next P olesden W ood  on  the left-hand o f  the road w hich leads to  D u nleye. T he w itnesses 
to this giant, m ade at Chertsey, w ere n ot lo ca l m en, but the next deed, granted by A b b o t A dam  
(1207-1223) is w itnessed by a w h o le  series o f  parish chap la ins inclu d ing  “ E. chaplain  o f  B ocham "  
(presum ably Edw ard). In this charter, John  Saracen o f  B o o k h a m  and his w ife, B eatrice, daughter  
o f  R oger de Esse (A sh), obta ined  5 acres w hich had belonged  to  Therric the bailiff, and the  
m essuage w hich R obert, son  o f  G on n ild e , had  held  o f  the abb ot in the tow n sh ip  o f  B ook h am , 
to  be held by rent o f  2s. 6d. In the 15th century these land s belonged  to  E dm u nd Shaa, trustee  
for John N orbu ry  w h o had acquired the P o lesd en  estate  in  1470 from  T h om as Slyfield.

T he early history o f  the m ain Slyfield estate, at the north  end  o f  B o o k h a m , is obscure, but 
it m ay have been the half-h ide o f  land  “ in S life ld ” d isputed  betw een R ob ert, son  o f  John , and  
A dam  de A ldham  in 1207-1208.® B efore the end  o f  the century it w as in  the han ds o f  W illiam  de 
Slifeld, a w itness to  local deeds as late as 1 3 0 1,4 and w h o  m ay have  been the son  o f  G eoffrey and  
Alice de Slifeld, liv ing  in the district in 1262.5

L ittle B ook h am  con tin u ed  in the fam ily o f  H ansard, on e  W illiam  H ansard  being m entioned  
in 1189 and another at several dates betw een  1210 and 1244. T his W illiam ’s son s, Sir John  
H ansard (died  1275) and Jam es H ansard, and the la tter’s so n , Jam es (born 1245), held  the  
lordship o f  L ittle B ook h am  from  the H o n o r  o f  Bram ber as su b-tenan ts o f  the fam ily o f  B raose  
until about 1300.

A t the other end o f  the socia l scale, serfs w ere d isp osed  o f  or  m entioned  by several o f  the  
deeds enrolled  in the C hertsey Cartulary. A b b o t A la n  (1223-1261) acquired from  A ld a  B luet o f  
B ookham  the latter’s bondm an , R ichard  de la W atere, w h ile  A b b o t John  M ed m en ham  (1261- 
1272) exchanged a certain “ nativus,” R alph  B lunt, “ w ith  his appurtenances in G reat B ook h am  
for ever” for tw o  “ nativ i” or “ v illan i” o f  H enry de D o u n e , nam ely  T h o m a s de la Sale o f  E astw ich  
and G ilbert B roune o f  Preston. In 1292, A b b o t B arth o lom ew  de W inton  granted to  P eter atte  
Felde o f  B ook h am  a tenem ent once  o f  G ilbert atte F eld e , w ith  a  m essu age and land  w h ich  R ob ert  
and John, brothers o f  Peter, had held in  bon dage; Peter w as to  pay 6s. rent yearly. In th is, and  
many other instances, substantial m oney rents were tak ing  the p lace o f  services, lo n g  before the  
great pestilence o f  1349. B ut earlier p lagues m ay have had  so m eth in g  to  do w ith  the grow ing  
freedom  from  servile status, for  in 1292 the abbey w as a llow ed  to  appropriate the revenues o f  
the church o f  (G reat) B ook h am , v o id  by the resign ation  o f  John  de L o n d o n , late rector, on  
condition  o f  presenting a su itab le vicar to  perform  the services: the reason  g iven  w as that “ the  
funds o f  the m onastery have decreased in various w ays, both  by ex action s and by pestilences and  
inundation o f  waters affecting the an im als, flocks and other th in g s .” 6 A lth o u g h  a few  labour  
services o n  the dem esne lands survived after 1300, the essen tia l change to  a m oney  eco n o m y  had  
already taken place in 13th-century B ookh am .

By abou t 1300, C hertsey A bbey n o  longer  farm ed B o o k h a m  by m eans o f  the labou r services 
o f  serfs, in the w ay described in m ost b o o k s o n  the m anorial system . T his had  given  p lace to  a
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predom inantly  m oney  eco n o m y , w here even  th o se  o f  theoretically  servile cond ition  held their  
lands by a title  a lm ost as ind efeasib le  as freehold . T hou gh  this tenure rem ained verbally “ at the 
will o f  the lord ” until the extin ction  o f  the m anorial system  in our ow n century, it already form ed  
in 14th-century B o o k h a m  a title  w hich co u ld  on ly  be forfeited  by gross negligence or waste  
com m itted  in the tenem ent. T his h igh status o f  the v ille in  at B ook h am  was som ew hat exceptional, 
thou gh  co n d itio n s were sim ilar on  the other m anors o f  C hertsey A b b ey .7

In  anoth er respect, B o o k h a m  p layed  an unusual part in the developm ent o f  the law  o f  
land hold ing . W hereas freeholds passed by law  to  the eldest son , m anorial custom s as to land  
held  in v ille in age (later co p y h o ld ) differed from  place to  place. The usual rule was for such  
land  to  pass to  the y o u n gest so n  (the so -ca lled  cu stom  o f  B orou gh  E n g lish ); this was generally 
the case  in Surrey, and rem ained so  until 1339 in  B ook h am . B ut in  that year the hom age (villein  
tenants) o f  the m anor o f  G reat B o o k h a m  cam e in a bod y to  the a b b o t’s steward. Brother  
R ichard de D u m b elto n , and headed by G ilbert L euw yne and T h om as atte H acche, asked that 
the lord  (the A b b o t o f  C hertsey) sh ou ld  change the cu sto m  by w hich  the youn gest son o f  a serf 
inherited, into  the national cu stom  o f  prim ogeniture. T he o ld  cu stom , they said, was to  the grave 
dam age o f  the w h ole  hom age and tenants o f  the m anor. Later in the sam e year, the sam e request 
w as m ade by three other m anors o f  C hertsey A b b ey: E psom , Sutton  and C ou lsdon . In each case  
the change in cu stom  was granted, o n  paym ent by the tenants o f  each  m anor o f  40s., a sum equal 
to  qu ite  £240  in  th e  va lues o f  to -d ay . T he w h o le  h om age o f  B ookh am  at the tim e consis'ed  o f  
som e 40 to  50 tenants, so  that, on  the average, each  w as prepared to  pay abou t £5 to  £6 for the 
privilege.

T his curiou s transaction  is possib ly  the m ost ou tstand in g  occurrence in the w hole history  
o f  B ookh am , and requires som e exp lanation . It is n o t ob v io u s why the copyhold er should benefit 
by the descent o f  h is h o ld in g  to  his e ldest rather than to  h is youn gest son . Indeed, over a num ber  
o f  generations it w ou ld  be to  the financial d isadvantage o f  the fam ily, for in the sam e period there 
w ou ld  be few er descents to  youn ger son s, and  consequ en tly  few er heriots and fines (death duties) 
w o u ld  have to  be paid. It is difficult to  escape the co n clu sion  that B ookh am  dem anded the change  
o n  p sy ch o log ica l grounds: the v ille in s felt that they sh ou ld  be on  the sam e fo o tin g  as freeholders, 
and were ready to  pay in  hard cash for the satisfaction  o f  having their first-born as their heir, 
the sam e as the K in g  or any peer o f  the realm . O ther m anors were at first eager to  fo llow  the  
fa sh io n ; but the fact that the rem aining 11 m anors o f  C hertsey A b b ey  never attem pted to  change  
the o ld  cu sto m  suggests that on  m ature reflection  it w as seen  that the advantages were illusory. 
It rem ains a strik ing fact that the inhabitants o f  B ook h am  in the early 14th century should have  
been the first in E ngland , so  far as w e kn ow , deliberately to  bring the local rule o f  inheritance into  
lin e  w ith  the law  o f  the land , a step  n o t to  be given  universal app lication  for another 600 years.

T he high m oney  rents and  dues paid have already been m entioned . They varied greatly, 
and it is difficult to  arrive at any clear picture o f  the va lue o f  houses and land. N orm ally  each  
ville in  paid  an annual rent and  w as a lso  m ulcted  heavily  u p on  inheriting, having to pay a 
"h erio t” or death duty o f  the best beast on his land , and then a “fine” for adm ission to  the  
ten em en t for h is o w n  lifetim e. In add ition  to  the h eriot paid  to  the lord  o f  the m anor, the  
secon d -b est beast had  to  be handed  over as a “ m ortuary” due to  the rector o f  the parish. It 
has here to  be rem em bered that after 1292 the A b b o t o f  Chertsey w as both Lord and R ector o f  
G reat B ook h am .

1 See Proceedings, Leatherhead & District Local History Socicty, Vol. 1, No. 1 (1947), page 11.
2 Public Record Office, E .164/25.
3 Curia Regis Rolls, Vol. V, pages 119, 205, 273.
4 Deed o f Adam le Yunge, “Slyfield Chest,” Surrey County Record Office, Kingston.
5 Surrey Fines (1894), page 41.
6 Calendar o f  Patent Rolls, 1281-1292, page 493.
7 See E. Toms, editor: Chertsey Abbey Court Rolls Abstract. Surrey Record Society, No. XXXVIII, 

1937, pages xvi, xxix; also N o. XLVIII, 1954.
8 M oney values cannot be exactly expressed, but it is possible to obtain a general mental picture by 

the use o f a suitable multiplier. G. G. C ou lton: The Meaning o f  Medieval Moneys (Historical Association  
Leaflet No. 95, 1934) showed that 40 was approximately the right index in 1934 to translate the values 
o f circa 1300-1348. We have to multiply this again by three to allow roughly for the great depreciation 
o f the last 20 years.
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on  th e  ou tsid e) sh ow s that these vessels w ere “ co o k in g -p o ts ,” and n ot (as som etim es term ed) 
m erely “ s to o g e  vesse ls .”  T he m ain feature o f  these  rim s is their sharply ou tbent “ beaded” 
section , w ith  a slight h o llo w  im m ediately  in sid e the rim . T he w h ole  section  is som ew hat 
rem iniscen t o f  that o f  “ N e o lith ic  B ” p ots o f  so -ca lled  “ P eterborough W are.” T here is probably  
little  d ifference in date, if  any, betw een the varying rim s N o s . 5-14, o f  w hich N o s . 5, 6, 8 and 11-14  
w ere fo u n d  togeth er  in pit 7, w ith  N o . 2.

N o . 8 has w hat m ay be in tended  for ornam ent o n  th e  rim , but w hich, on  the other hand  
(in  th e  absence o f  any further rim s so  indented), m ay be accidental indentations form ed, in 
han dling , before the p o t w as fired, th o u g h  so m e o f  the earliest pottery  from  T he M ounts had  
finger-form ed ornam ent a lo n g  the rim.

N o . 11, apparently  an early piece and probab ly  brought to  the site from  som e distant 
pottery k iln , is o f  very hard grey-w are w ith red-brow n surfaces, con ta in s on ly  a little and very 
fine shell-grit and m ore coarse san d , or quartz particles. It is probab ly  earlier than 1200 in date  
and resem bles certain o f  the earliest p ieces fou n d  at T he M ounts.

N o s . 15, 16 and  17, from  c o o k in g -p o ts  o f  a type m ade o f  very th in , but qu ite hard, shell-grit 
w are w h ich , at T he M ounts (w here it w as fo u n d  in the upper filling o f  the m ain rubbish pit and  
form ed  the la test type o f  shell-grit w are at that site), probab ly  dates circa  a .d . 1250-1280. A s  
w ell as its th inn ess and  tough n ess, a feature o f  th is final shell-grit w are is the bright-red co lo u r  o f  
the inner surface, w ith  its sm o o th  ochre co a tin g , w hile the outer  surface is rougher and  o f  a 
p urp le-brow n co lou r.

O f the earliest “ m o ttled -g laze” w ares, p ieces o f  som e coarse  w hite-w are flagons (including  
a handle) w ere fou n d  and date abou t a . d . 1260, or slightly later. (P ieces o f  on e  o f  these flagons  
w ere fou n d  at T he M ounts in a “ rake-up” layer o f  clay and debris underneath the tile-built 
“ scree l-w all”  in Sir E ustace de H acch e’s hall and , therefore prior to  a .d . 1290.)

( . f a  typ e  o f  large and deep bow l, o f  hard w hite  ware, w ith app lied  ornam ent and thick , 
or n r ttled , green g laze on the b o tto m  inner surface and som e sp ots and patches (probably  
largely accidental) o n  the rim  or elsew here, several w ere represented by fragm ents found. 
N o s . ' 8, 19 and 20 are typ ical o f  th is group, o f  w hich pieces representing several dozen  vessels 
w ere 'o u n d  at T he M ounts and in levels w hich cou ld  be dated circa  a .d . 1290-1300. T hey are 
o rrr 'n en ted  externally  by the app lication  o f  (w idely spaced) “ ribbon strips,”  pressed on to  the



outsid e before firing, in vertical undu lating p ieces and  in a sort o f  “ pastry-m aking" tech n ique. 
Part o f  the rim  and side o f  o n e  o f  these bow ls w as fou n d  in the excavation s on  the so u th  side o f  
L ittle  B ook h am  C hurch in 1953.1

N o . 21 is in a very hard, light-red ware, and is a slightly later type o f  the bow ls ju st described. 
T he glaze on the b ottom  inner surface is o f  a brow n or yellow -b row n co lo u r, the rim  is square  
and angular, and the applied  strips, m ore regular and c loser  spaced. P ieces o f  a num ber o f  these  
distinctive early 14th-century bow ls were foun d , both  at th is site  and at T he M ounts.

F in ally , in an extrem ely hard brow nish-red , to  purple, w are w ith green ish -brow n internal 
glaze, is the type o f  bow l figured as N o . 22, fou n d  in trench 3, level 2. P ieces o f  flagons o f  this 
sam e ware occurred in upper levels at both  sites, and  seem  to  date abou t 1310-1330.

A gain , as at T he M ounts, n o  p ieces o f  the d istin ctive  C heam 2 w are turned up  at th is site, 
both sites having been aban don ed , it seem s, in the first ha lf o f  the 14th century.

1 Proceedings o f  the Leatherhead and District Local History Society, Vol. 1, No. 5, page 10, l ig . 3.
2 The Cheam mediaeval pottery kiln, excavated by the late Mr. Marshall in 1923, is described, with 

its contents o f pottery, in Surrey Archaeological Collections, Vol. XXXV, pages 79-97. (It is dated late 
14th century from the pottery types found in the kiln, especially the series o f flagons.)

REPORT OF GROUP “E ” : Natural History
T he annual surveys o f  the vegetation  on M ick leham  D o w n  and W hite H ill w ere repeated  

during 1955. T he changes in the vegetation  on  both  sites are n ow  m ore gradual and there is 
noth ing o f  special interest to  record.

In July there w as an exped ition  to  R anm ore C om m on . Mr. W . H . E. R ivett gave a ta lk  
on the g eo logy  o f  the district during the w alk and p oin ted  out the g eo log ica l features o f  the  
landscape. A n exhib ition  o f  g eo log ica l specim ens w as arranged in  th e  tea-garden  so  that 
m em bers cou ld  exam ine them  during tea. A fter  tea  a v isit w as paid  to  W hite D o w n , E ffingham , 
a part o f  the chalk escarpm ent below  R anm ore, and M iss J. Brow n condu cted  the party to  a 
chalk erosion  slop e  on the site  o f  an anti-tank trench. T his site , now  in its n in th  year o f  
re-co lon ization , w as d om inated  by P lou gh m an ’s Spikenard. A  few  p lants o f  A juga  C ham aepitys, 
ground pine, were a lso  found, but they appeared to  have decreased in num ber, probably  due  
to  the w et sum m er o f  1954 and to  increasing co m p etition . T he prev iou sly  recorded co lo n ists , 
Linaria ela tine  and Linaria spuria, cou ld  not be foun d . T he erosion  slo p e  vegetation  was 
com pared w ith that o f  a nearby piece o f  typical chalk  dow nland w here a num ber o f  bee  
orchids were seen.
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A CARTOGRAPHICAL SURVEY OF THE AREA
IN T R O D U C T O R Y  N O TE

W IT H  th is issue w e com m en ce  w hat w e hop e w ill be a series o f  m aps o f  the L eatherhead  
district, sh ow in g  the area as it appeared, or as it is conjectured to  have appeared, at various  

stages o f  its h istory.

G reat changes have occurred since the first w orld  war w h en , m ainly for econ om ic  reasons, 
the system  o f  lords o f  the m anor largely d isappeared from  the area, and parts o f  it were 
“ d ev e lo p ed .” In F etcham , for instance, the H ankey  fam ily had squired it for som e 150 years 
and few , perhaps, realise h o w  great w as the effect o f  the change on  that parish. Even m ore 
drastic and  deplorably  exten sive changes have taken  place since the second world war, due  
partly to  the h o u sin g  shortage and  a lso , it is feared, to  lack o f  appreciation or pure unaw areness 
o f  th e  character and beauty o f  the area w h ich  are being slow ly  and ca llously  destroyed in the  
nam e o f  progress and m odernisation . N o  on e  w h o kn ew  the district in the 1920s can  
co n tem p late  w ith equan im ity  the changes that have been m ade— with m ore in prospect.

T he task  o f  this Society  is, how ever, to  n ote  and record these changes as and w hen they  
occur in an objective  m anner and on ly  as ind iv idu als regret them  as they sh ow  against the scene  
w hich nature and the requirem ents o f  rural agriculture form erly presented. The purpose o f  these  
m aps is to  try to  sh o w  the changas that have taken place over the centuries and the slow  and  
dignified pace o f  its d evelop m en t— a pace co n so n a n t w ith  an ob v iou sly  predom inant love o f  the  
natural district by our predecessors w h ich, at the sam e tim e, did not neglect such advances as 
w ere needed  to  keep  in  step  w ith  the co n d itio n s o f  the tim es w hile preserving the character as 
w ell as the characteristics o f  the area.

It m ay create no w onder that the d istrict has been occu p ied  by m an from  prehistoric tim es 
but, since early m an w as n o t troubled  w ith aesthetic  view s on his surroundings, it m ay not be out 
o f  p lace first to  consider the reasons for his choice . The first m ap sh ow s the contours o f  the area, 
at 25-feet intervals and  th is, w ith  the tw o  next m aps— to  be published in our next issue— sh ow ing  
the g eo lo g y  and ancien t v eg eta tio n , w ill, together, throw  som e light on the probab le attractions 
o f  the area to  prim itive m an. P ending pu b lication  o f  these next tw o  m aps, w hen such possib le  
attractions can  be d iscussed , w e can , in  the m eantim e (in order to  fo llo w  them ) note  certain  
poin ts o n  the first m ap.

F rom  r.ear the centre o f  the bottom  edge o f  the m ap the river M ole  runs northw ards to  
abou t the centre o f  the m ap and then turns north-w est by w est. On the south  o f  this westerly  
reach the land  gradually rises by som e 400 feet to  overlo o k  the va lley  o f  the B o o k h am -D ork in g  
R oad  (ab ou t 500 yards from  the b o tto m  o f  the m ap to  the w est o f  the river). On both  sides o f  
the sou th -n orth  reach the land rises m uch m ore steep ly  (even  precip itously  in places) to  attain, 
o n  the east, an increase o f  so m e 550 feet in heigh t at the su m m it o f  B o x  H ill (in the south-east 
corner). O n both  sides o f  this reach, rushing stream s (n o  longer in existence) anciently cut deep  
clefts in the chalk  w here, e .g ., the B o o k h a m -D o rk in g  R oad  and H ead ley  L ane (the ravine 
running north-east from  the m ain D ork ing  R o a d  abou t 1,200 yards from  the bottom  o f  the m ap) 
n ow  are. T o  the north  and north-east o f  the river the land rises m uch m ore gradually, but the 
presence o f  m any sm all hills or k n o lls  is a feature o f  this part o f  the area.

T he R iver M ole , itse lf, w as, o f  course, on a m uch higher level in ancien t tim es, gradually  
cutting  its w ay dow n and leav in g  traces o f  its form er p o sition s in the terrace gravels which will 
be seen o n  the g eo lo g ica l m ap. T he bed o f  the river rises som e 75 feet betw een a po in t a little  
b elow  Slyfield (on  the north-w est o f  the m ap) to  B urford Bridge (on  the extrem e south). The  
on ly  stream s o f  any size n o w  flow ing  in to  the R iver M ole w ith in  the area o f  the m ap are the Rye 
B rook (rising in  A shtead  on  the north-east corner), the stream  a lo n g  the w est boundary o f  
L ittle B ook h am  (fo llo w in g  c losely  the G rid line 12E) and  a sm all on e  crossing O akland and  
W o o d la n d  R oad s (runn ing in to  the M ole  abou t 700 yards north o f  the R ye B rook).

( to be  continued)
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In the early 14th century, the rents paid for co ttages w ith a sm all p lot o f  garden and up to  
I acre in the fields varied from  Is. to  4s. 6d ., w hile the com b in ed  cash  va lue o f  heriot and fine 
at each inheritance averaged abou t 4s. 6d. H eriot and fine on  a half-virgate farm  (15 acres) 
averaged about 10s., and upon a virgate (abou t 30 acres) 20s., w hile the yearly rents m ight be 
a bou t the sam e. Since heriot and fine w ou ld  only be paid  o n  the average a tfa ir ly  lon g  intervals, 
such as 20 years, this m eant a real to ta l rent o f  perhaps 2s. 6d. for a co ttage , 10s. 6d. for a half- 
virgate, and 21s. for a virgate. T hese sum s m ust be m ultip lied  by a factor o f  a b ou t 120 to  reach  
an idea o f  1955 values, giv ing rentals o f  som e £15, £65 and £130 resp sctively .8 M oderate as 
these rents appear in the urban B o o k h a m  o f  to -d ay , they are su bstantia l for  a rural com m u nity , 
and a great deal o f  ready m oney m ight have to  be foun d  to  pay the fine o n  a la rg ; farm , as when  
John L euw yne succeeded his father, G ilbert, in 1340. On his father's tw o  m essuages, on e  w ith  
a virgate and the other w ith 2 acres o f  land, he had to  pay £3 6s. 8d., the equivalen t o f  £400 now .

PEN SKETCHES OF OLD HOUSES IN THIS DISTRICT
By F. B. B E N G E R

5.— BOOKHAM  GROVE, G R EA T BOOKHAM

TH E upper m ain road betw een L eatherhead and  G u ild fo rd  is o f  great antiqu ity . It is 
m entioned in docum ents as early as 1279; but it certain ly existed  in Saxon  tim es, for burials 

o f  that period have been fou n d  beside it, and Mr. John  H arvey, F .S .A ., has sh o w n  beyond  
reasonable d ou bt that the Saxon  hundred m eeting  place (H orse-h ead  C ross) w as beside the road  
near Park Corner, F etcham . (Su rrey  A rchacolog ica l C ollections, V ol. L (1949), pages 157-161.) 
In 1953, w hen foun dations were being dug at the B ook h am  G rove hou sing  estate, hum an rem ains 
were found beside the form er line o f  the G uild ford  road where it crosses the estate, and  
C aptain A . W . G . L ow ther, F .S .A ., deduced from  the bone form ation  o f  the skulls that they  
were th ose  o f  D an es, qu ite possib ly  stragglers trying to  m ake their w ay back tow ards the  
Tham es after the rout o f  the D a n ish  arm y at the battle o f  “ A c lea ” in a . d . 851.

A t this particular poin t (B ook h am  G rove) on  the G uild ford  road there existed  from  early  
m ediaeval tim es a dou b le  crossing o f  roads or tracks running in a southerly  d irection . P roceed ing  
tow ard G uild ford  there w as first the crossing  o f  the line o f  G reat B o o k h a m  H igh  Street and  
D ork ing  road. Mr. H arvey has sh ow n in the previous issue o f  these P roceedings  that G reat 
B ook h am  Street w as con sc io u sly  laid ou t in tow n -p lann ed  fash ion , and that it conn ected  the  
Saxon a ccom m od ation  road  a lo n g  the T hanet sands (L ow er road) to  the G uild ford  road. 
D o rk in g  road (that tow ards B agden) w as described as a K in g ’s H igh w ay so o n  after 1200; so  
that this crossing or jun ction  m ust have had som e im portance from  the first. N o t  far further  
westw ards, a lane, now  represented on the northern side by T o w n sh o t C lose , crossed  the  
G uildford road and proceeded  in a southerly  d irection , first betw een tw o  inh ab ited  strips and  
then across the great open co m m o n  fields. T his lane, m en tion ed  in the 12th cen tury as the w ay  
to  D u n ley , w as probably used principally  as a drove road, and con stan t driving o f  flocks ar.d 
herds a long  it, no  dou bt, in tim e w ore aw ay the loam  surface and revealed the chalk , for  it 
becam e know n as the W hite W ay. U n til the 18th century, the G uild ford  road  itse lf ran straight 
forw ard after passing its jun ction  w ith D o rk in g  road, w ithou t the present dan gerous and  
awkward diversion to the north. T his o ld  road system  can be clearly seen in T hom as C lay's 
survey o f  1614, a diagram  o f  w hich is here reproduced by perm ission  o f  Mr. H arvey w h o  has 
traced the w h ole  survey and elucidated m ost o f  it.

O n the southern side o f  the G uild ford  road, im m ediately  beyon d  the H igh  Street-D ork ing  
road crossing, w ill be noted  four dw ellin g-hou se sites; three o f  them  betw een D ork in g  road  
and the W hite W ay, the fourth , w est o f  W hite W ay (N o . 43, 44, 45 and 46 o n  the p lan). T hese  
four dw ellings sto o d  upon the site o f  the present B ook h am  G rove m ansion  and its ou tb u ild ings, 
and Mr. H arvey has given the fo llo w in g  accou n t o f  th em :—

N ex t to  the corner o f  the D ork in g  road w as a co p y h o ld  tenem ent (N o . 43) acquired from  
John at H atche by the A b b o t o f  C hertsey in  1339 and in 1342 granted to  John  G od ew yn . L ater  
it passed to John  Sew ale; in  1433 the tenant w as H ugh  T aylour; tow ards the end  o f  the 15th  
century it belonged to  John at Style; later to  T h om as H ull and Joan , his w ife (possib ly  a daughter
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o f  S tyle). In  1538 it w as acquired by R ob ert C row cher, in w h ose  fam ily it rem ained until 1630, 
w hen it w as so ld  to  W illiam  G o sd en  jun ior, w h o se  heirs, in 1650, d isp osed  o f  the property to  
John A rnold . A rn o ld ’s daughter, E lizabeth , died  in 1690 w hen , no heir c la im ing  the property, 
it w as taken  in to  the hands o f  the L ord o f  the M anor, Francis, 5th Baron H ow ard o f  Effingham . 
T his h ou se  had been let to  H enry E llis in 1622, w h o  occu p ied  it until the 1640s; R obert Strudw ick  
su cceed ed  him  for so m e years until, in 1656, John F reem an w as in occu pation  o f  the prem ises.

T o  the w est o f  “ C row chers” w as another co p y h o ld  (N o . 44), held for a lon g  period by the  
fa m ily  o f  R ogers o f  So le  Farm , B o o k h a m . O n the death o f  John R ogers in 1590 it passed to  his 
so n , T h om as, on  w h o se  death in 1600 the prem ises passed to  his son , T hom as, aged 7J, and were 
leased  to  C lem en cia  B ith ew o o d . L ater occupiers were N ich o la s Edes, w h o to o k  a 21 years’ lease  
in 1629, and m em bers o f  the R ogers fam ily. T he descent o f  th is property has not been traced  
b ey o n d  1663, w hen it w as held by R ob ert R ogers and  his w ife, A nne.

W estw ard, again , w as a freehold  tenem ent (N o . 45) know n as B eales in the 17th century. 
In the reign o f  E lizabeth  I th is belonged  to  John  G ardener, yeom an , w h o left it to  his son , R a lf  
G ardener. R alf, dying in 1604, in  turn left to  h is brother, E dm on d , “ m y house called B ales in 
B o o k h a m .” T he property descended  to  E dw ard G ardener w h o died in 1635, leaving it to  h is  
y ou n ger  brother, John , then aged  19. A s a freehold , and thus becom in g m ore loosely  attached  
to the m anor, it is n o t m entioned  further in the C ourt R o lls. T he w estern boundary o f  B eales 
ran a lo n g  the ancien t track kn ow n as the W hite W ay.

W est o f  the W hite  W ay lay a section  o f  the open  field know n as the L ow er Shott in B ook h am  
D ean , w ith  strips running at righ t-angles to  the G uild ford  road. T he easternm ost o f  these strips, 
form ing part o f  the co p y h o ld  estate  o f  E dw ard H ilder, adm itted  tenant in 1588, had been  
en c lo sed  by 1615, w hen the surveyor T hom as C lay noted  that a co tta g e  w as built upon it (N o . 46). 
Just after the survey w as m ade, H ilder d isp osed  o f  the land to  R obert A rnold , w hose daughter, 
Jane T hrusley, so ld  the co ttage , in 1676, to  G eorge  H ow ard , youn ger son  o f  Sir Charles H ow ard, 
knight, L ord o f  the M anor 1651-1672, and brother o f  F rancis w h o, in 1681, becam e 5th Baron  
H ow ard  o f  Effingham  on  the extin ction  o f  the sen ior line. G eorge H ow ard w as baptised at G reat 
B o o k h a m  on  10th A pril, 1647, and died there on  13th D ecem ber, 1684.

O ne o f  the central sites (N o s . 44-45), th ou gh  it is not clear w hich, had , in the m iddle o f  the 
13th cen tury, form ed  tw o  m essu ages; the eastern held  by T hom as de O veton , the western by 
W alter le Sm yth . In 1279, Isabella , daughter o f  W alter, conveyed  this m essuage to  John  de 
A p erdele, and  in the sam e year he resold  it to  A lice  o f  B ook h am , called  “ de N yw en h am ,” w ho  
w as already in p o ssessio n  o f  the O veton  property adjoin ing. A s a w id ow , A lice (then A lice  atte 
Putte) so ld  both  m essuages to  R ichard  R a n d o lf  and  A lice  D en em an  w h o, in 1344, d isp osed  o f  
them  to  H enry K ent, and he, in  turn, to  the A b b o t o f  Chertsey.

E lizabeth  A rn o ld , the ho ld er o f  N o . 43, in 1680 so ld  land  in the co m m o n  field, adjacent to  
her tenem ent ho ld in g , to  G eorge  H ow ard; and this w as apparently the com m encem en t o f  the 
gradual co m b in a tio n  o f  all the properties. It seem s possib le that G eorge H ow ard acquired also  
the freehold  o f  B eales (N o . 45). H e m ay have  lived in the old  h ou se for a tim e, but it is probable  
that he d id  n ot survive lo n g  en ou gh  to  undertake its rebuild ing and enlargem ent. B ut, as we 
have seen, h is brother, F rancis 5th B aron  H ow ard  o f  Effingham , becam e possessed  o f  N o . 43 
(the tenem ent nearest to  D o rk in g  road) in  1690. W hen B o o k h a m  G rove w as acquired by the  
loca l authority  after the 1939-1945 war there still ex isted  a w ell-designed brick and tile dovecote, 
w h ich  m ay be presum ed to  have beeen bu ilt by F rancis H ow ard  w hen N o . 43 fell into  h is hands. 
D o v eco te s  were, by m anor cu stom , the prerogative o f  the lord o f  the m anor, and were usually  
built o n  dem esne land conven ien tly  near to  the com m on  arable fields, so  that the p igeons cou ld  
find provender c lose  at hand. T he B o o k h a m  open  fields were im m ediately  to  the south  o f  these  
four tenem ents. F rancis H ow ard , 5th B aron  H ow ard o f  E ffingham , w as G overnor o f  Virginia 
in the reign o f  C harles II.

It w as G eorge  H o w a rd ’s son , T h o m a s, w h o  transform ed B eales (N o . 45) and the co ttage  on  
the o ther side o f  the W hite W ay (N o . 46) in to  a sh o o tin g  box  and foun d  it necessary to  apply for  
pow ers to  divert the drove road in order to  jo in  the tw o  properties. On 18th February, 1720/1721, 
the Vestry o f  G reat B o o k h a m  co n sen ted  to  the H on . C o lo n e l H ow ard  diverting “ye low er E nd  
o f  ye W hittw ay from  ye E ast side o f  his h o u s.” A ccord in g  to  M anning and Bray it was at about
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the sam e tim e that T hom as H ow ard procured the d iversion o f  the G uild ford  road to  its present 
course, so  that it branched from  H igh  Street at a po in t further north , the intervening land being  
incorporated in to  the curtilage o f  H ow ard ’s h ou se  to  form  a lawn and p la n ta tio n . W e have n o  
p ro o f that C olonel T hom as H ow ard  (w h o d ied  in the w inter 1752/1753) acquired  the rem ain ing  
tw o  tenem ents (N o s . 43 and 44) but it seem s lik ely  that either he or  h is son , Sir G eorge  H ow ard, 
did so. Sir G eorge H ow ard  so ld  the property  to  V ice-A dm iral T hom as B rodrick, and  it w as the  
latter w h o built the greater part o f  the present h ou se  w ith  its offices and  outb u ild ings w hich cover  
the sites o f  all the earlier tenem ents. T he front do o r  o f  the h ou se  is exactly  on  the line o f  the o ld  
W hite W ay. B rodrick w as serving actively  at sea until a b ou t 1760, and perhaps h is acqu isition  
o f  B ook h am  G rove dated from  abou t that tim e. It is likely  that he cam e there because he w ished  
to  live near his old  superior officer, A dm iral Edw ard B oscaw en, w h o  resided at H atch lan ds, 
W est H orsley. The sym m etry o f  B rodrick’s h ou se  at B ookh am  G rove has been ruined by later  
add itions, but in any case, the design is not an inspiring one, w ith  a rather m ean ped im ent and  
corn ice; though, n o  dou bt, it was 
a han dsom e enou gh  dw elling in 
Brodrick’s tim e, surrounded by 
the great o p en  fields o n  its 
southern and w estern sides.

T hom as B rodrick w as a 
good  exam ple o f  the 18th-century  
sea dog , o f  the pattern w hich  
paved the w ay for N e lso n  and  
the tacticians o f  the N a p o leo n ic  
era. H e entered the N a v y  circa  
1723, becam e a lieutenant in 
1739, and distinguished h im self  
in com m an d o f  a storm ing party 
in  that year w hen A dm iral 
V ernon attacked Porto B ello .
T w o years later, as acom m an d er, 
he w as at the siege o f  C artagena, 
fo llow in g  w hich he w as p rom oted  
to  captain . H e served in the  
Leeward Islands, 1744-1748, and  
becam e R ear-A dm iral in  the  
M editerranean in 1756. H e was 
prom oted  V ice-A dm iral in  1759 and served under B oscaw en  against D e  la  C lue in  that year and  
at the b lockad e o f  T o u lo n  and  C adiz. H e w as on e  o f  the jud ges at the court-m artia l o f  A d m iral 
John Byng in 1757, w h o  w as sh ot “pour encourager les a u t r e s On his w ay o u t to  the M editer­
ranean in 1758, B rodrick h o isted  h is flag in the Prince G eorge  as c o n v o y  to  a m erchant fleet. 
T he ship to o k  fire at sea o n  13th A p ril, and w as tota lly  destroyed . O f 745 passengers and  crew , 
only 260 were saved. There w as som e difficulty in gettin g  aw ay the adm iral’s barge, and w hen  
he entered it he fou n d  that it w as m uch overladen. H e therefore stripped o ff h is c lo th es and  
jum p ed in the sea where he sw am  for an hour before being p icked  up by on e  o f  the m erchantm en. 
The barge, as he had foreseen, w as overturned. A  seam an had the presence o f  m ind to  d on  the  
adm iral’s jacket, and w as rescued w hen it w as assum ed that he w as Brodrick.

Brodrick died in January 1769, and B ook h am  G rove w as so ld  to  Sir A lexander G rant; 
and on G rant’s death , in  1773, to  a Mr. D a lb iac . T he latter so ld  it in 1775 to  John D aw nay, 
V iscoun t D o w n e  in  the peerage o f  Ireland. L ord  D o w n e  w as ev id en tly  liv ing  in  so m e sty le  at 
the G rove for, in 1780, he w as taxed for 12 m ale servants, the largest num ber in  B ook h am . 
H e died in that year and his w id o w  continued  to  reside at the G rove  until her death  in 1812. 
T he property is described, circa  1789, by Jam es E dw ards the topograph er, as fo llo w s: “ O n the  
south  is Bookham  Grove  the seat o f  V iscountess D ow n e. T he h ou se  is a h an d som e brick bu ild in g  
which appears o f  a m odern erection , and executed  in taste; adorned  w ith  su itab le  p lan tation s,
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g o o d  gardens, e tc ., the greatest part of w m cn is surrounded by sp acious com m on  fields.” 
(C om panion from  London to B righ thelm ston.) M anning and Bray (1809) state that B ookh am  
G rove had 72 acres attached , w hich seem s to  ind icate that in the intervening period part o f  the  
co m m o n  fields had been enclosed . In 1815 the H on. M arm aduke D aw nay headed the list o f  
contrib utors to  a h ou se-to -h o u se  co llection  in aid o f  the dependants o f  those killed at W aterloo.

In N o v em b er  o f  the fo llo w in g  year a sale o f  furniture and farm  stock  to o k  place at the G rove, 
w hich is described in the han db ill (a co p y  o f  w hich is p ossessed  by this Society) as the property  
o f  A n th o n y  H orne, E sq ., deceased . H orn e m ay have been the b a iliff  or farm er o f  the G rove  
farm , w h o  lived in the offices to  the east o f  the m ansion  proper; but the title o f  esquire given to  
him  seem s to  ind icate so m eo n e  o f  m ore con seq u en ce , and it is possib le  that he to o k  a lease o f  
the G rove  shortly  before h is death. In 1817, how ever, the H on . C atherine D aw nay (died 1821) 
w as in o ccu p ation  and  w as assessed  for rates on  £94; and the D aw n ays continued  to  live there  
during the greater part o f  the 19th century for, in 1850, B rayley noted  the then owner as H on . 
W illiam  H enry D aw nay, M .P. for R utland , and , in 1876, Jam es T horne, F .S .A . H andbook to  
the Environs o f  London, notes it as the seat o f  V iscoun tess D o w n e . T he fam ily held the advow son  
o f  G reat B ookh am  1879-1903.

V arious other ow ners succeeded  the D o w n e  fam ily and in the period betw een the tw o w orld  
wars the fringes o f  the property on  the sou th  and w est were so ld  and develop ed . Its existence as 
a separate dw ellin g  had b ecom e un likely  by the tim e o f  the outbreak o f  war in 1939, and shortly  
after the war it w as acquired by L eatherhead U rban D istr ict C ouncil for use as a housing estate, 
the h ou se itse lf being  div ided  in to  flats. T he E nglish  socia l scene has never been a static one, and  
the h istory o f  B o o k h a m  G rove exem plifies socia l change through the centuries.

A  n ote  sh ou ld  be added  here regarding the inn w hich  existed  o n  the north-east corner o f  
the jun ction  o f  H igh  Street w ith  G uild ford  road (see N o . 41 on  the diagram  m ap) know n as 
“ T he Saracen and R in g .” T he bu ild ing still ex ists, thou gh , alas, no longer as an inn. T he site  
is described as a curtilage in  1517 and  1548, but as a tenem ent by 1592; so  that the earliest part 
o f  the ex istin g  h ou se m ay b e lo n g  to  the secon d  h a lf o f  the 16th century. B efore taking the nam e  
o f  “ T he Saracen and  R in g ” th is inn w as k n ow n as “ T he W hite H art”  (the W hite H art w as, o f  
course, a co m m o n  inn sign  in Surrey, since it w as on e  o f  the badges o f  the Earls o f  Arundel 
from  m ediaeval tim es onw ard). M r. John H arvey gives the nam es o f  the fo llow in g  licensees: 
in or before 1789 until 1834 or after, John  B row n; in 1838, G eorge  W o o d ; in or before 1840 until 
1845 or after, Jam es O ttaw ay; in or before 1865 until 1874 or after, W illiam  C lapshaw . There  
is an  am usin g  accou n t o f  a n igh t spent in this hostelry  in A Saunter Through Surrey, by M . C. 
Turner, 1857, w here it is stated  that the then land lord  had selected  the sign as a m ark o f  respect 
to  the D a w n a y  fam ily  o f  B o o k h a m  G rove; the saracen and ring both  figuring in the fam ily crest. 
T he fo llo w in g  q u o ta tio n  from  B urke is given  by Turner: “ Sir W illiam  D aw nay  was m ade a 
general in the fourth  (year) o f  R ichard I, at A eo n , w here, having slain  a Saracen prince, and  
afterw ards k illing  a lion , he cu t o ff the paw  and presented it to  the k ing, w h o im m ediately, in 
to k en  o f  app rob ation , to o k  the ring o ff  h is finger, and presenting it to  D aw n ay , ordered, that to  
perpetuate the even t, he sh ou ld  bear as a crest a dem i Saracen, w ith a l io n ’s paw in one hand and  
a ring in the other; and th is ring still rem ains in the p o ssessio n  o f  the fam ily .”  Turner describes 
a cricket m atch  betw een the c lu bs o f  G reat B ookh am  and C ob ham  w hich to o k  place in a field 
at the rear o f  “ T he Saracen and  R in g .”  G reat B o o k h a m  w on  han dsom ely , partly due to  the  
efforts o f  the land lord , “ w h o is celebrated in the annals o f  the pastim e.” The house had lost its 
licence by 1895, one w onders w hether as the result o f  the activ ities o f  a local lady (perhaps 
influenced in her y o u th  by the exam ple o f  Sir W alter F arquhar o f  P olesden , an ap ostle  o f  
tem perance) w h o  m ade it her business to  buy up  and c lose  every a le-h ouse and tavern in 
B o o k h a m  w hich  cam e in to  the m arket. T he rem arks o f  Jam es S. O gilvy in his P ilgrim age in 
S u rrey  (1914) on  th is are so  pertinent and  so  app licab le to  the afflictions o f  all classes at the  
present day that they m ay be fittingly  used to  c lose  this article. “ N o w a d a y s,” (w rote O gilvy), 
“ we suffer from  a  p lague o f  p eop le  w h o  adop t a m ission  to  correct the faults o f  their poorer  
n eighbours by precept, and  there is a danger that the free-born E nglishm an m ay becom e an 
extin ct species in the country d istricts; he is se ld om  a llow ed  to  keep  a  p ig , but he is alw ays 
com p elled  to  assist in keep ing a bevy o f  inspectors; he is lectured, advised, and exhorted abou t
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everything he eats, drinks, or w ears; he becom es a decim al p o in t in co lu m n s o f  statistics, and  his 
ways o f  life are m ade the subject o f  inquiries by p eop le  in co m m ittee  r o o m s— p eop le  w h o  are 
full o f  fads and theories, w h o have never trudged the dusty h igh w ays, or to iled  in the sun-sm itten  
fields, and m ost o f  the tim e do n o t k n o w  w hat they are ta lk in g  a b ou t; a lm ost the on ly  th in g  an  
old  w orking m an in the country can call h is ow n is his rheum atism , and he is not alw ays left in 
undisturbed p ossession  o f  th a t.”

6 . — POLESDEN, G R E A T  BOOKHAM

TH E  nam e P olesden  L acey, by w hich th is h ou se  and estate are n o w  k n ow n , is a h istorical 
m isnom er, for it properly belongs to  a reputed m anor o f  that nam e in the parish o f  M ickleham  

w hich w as united  w ith the m anor o f  H igh  P olesden  in B ook h am  in 1784, but w hich no longer  
form s part o f  the estate. It serves to  rem ind us, how ever, that the nam e P o lesd en  w as originally  
that o f  a district rather than o f  a m anor; being  the Saxon  nam e for that dry lite r a l valley  w hich  
splits the N orth  D o w n s at this po in t and runs dow n from  E ffingham  to  the M ole  at W esthum ble. 
This w as, in Saxon  tim es, the dene or valley  o f  P oll, probably on e  o f  the T euton ic  settlers o f  
the 5th and 6th centuries. W e m ay w onder w hether he w as the sam e that gave h is nam e to  
P ulborough in Sussex, a place, lik e  W esthum ble, near to  the lin e  o f  that R om an  road, Stane  
Street, up which no doubt these invad ing  Saxon s m ade their way from  the coast. Be that as it 
m ay, this c left in the N o rth  D o w n s ab ou nd s in Saxon  nam es: C raiden, H o g d en , P o lesd en , 
B agden, A sh com b e, and E lfare (th is last a corrup tion  o f  A yliveh aw , the haw  or c lo se  o f  
A ethelg ifu  a Saxon lady). I refer the reader to  an interesting n ote  on  the early h istory o f  this 
valley by Mr. John H arvey, F .S .A ., in S u rrey  A rchaeolog ica l C ollections, (V ol. L , 1949, pages  
161-164).

W e are, therefore, here concerned  w ith the B o o k h a m  m anor o f  H igh P o lesd en , and  the  
earliest references to  th is are to  a fam ily  tak in g  its nam e from  their property. It is difficult to  
sort out these early m ediaeval ow ners: the first o f  them  seem s to  have been  H erbert de 
P olesdene, w h o  w as se lling  land  “ in P o lesd en e” in 1198 (F eet o f  Fines). T he  C hertsey C artularies  
refer to  a R ichard de P o llesdene in  1244 and again betw een 1261 and 1272, a lm ost certain ly  the  
ow ner o f  the P olesdene h o ld in g  in G reat B ook h am  ( P .R .O . E. 164/25); h is su ccessor  w as John  de  
Polesdene w h o w as a w itness to  charters dated at B ook h am  in 1273 (B .M . A d d . R o ll 5569) and  
1278 (P .R .O . E. 164/25). In 1332, W illiam  de C rofte w as in p ossession  (he w as assessed  to  pay  
6s. 7^d. to  a Lay Subsidy: S u rrey R eco rd  S o c ie ty , N o . X X X III, 1931) and co n tin u es to  appear at 
intervals as a w itness to  charters, e tc ., until 1345 (P .R .O . E . 164/25). In 1336 an agreem ent is 
recorded betw een W illiam  de C rofte and N ich o la s de B ergh, h o ld in g  the ten em en t o f  P olesd en e  
w hich used to  be held  by John  de P olesdene (L ansdow ne M S. 434, S u rrey  R eco rd  S ocie ty , 
V ol. X X X V III) and this ind icates that at least as early as that date a h ou se  ex isted  at P olesden . 
In 1470, the m anor o f  H igh P olesden was conveyed  by T hom as Slyfield  and A n n e, his w ife, to  
John N orbury w ho, in 1491/1492, enfeoffed  trustees to  hold  it for the use o f  R obert C astleton  
and E lizabeth, his w ife (daughter o f  Sir H enry N orbu ry). R ob ert C astle ton  died  23rd D ecem ber, 
1527; there is a brass for him  at L on g  D itton . H e w as J.P. for  Surrey and C lerk o f  the P leas in 
the K ing’s E xchequer, son  o f  W illiam  and E m m a C astleton . In 1545, John C astle ton , so n  and  
heir o f  R obert and E lizabeth , w h o  is described by M anning and  Bray as o f  L o n g  D itto n , died  
seized o f  P olesden , held  o f  the k ing as o f  h is m anor o f  G reat B o o k h a m ; John  C a stle to n ’s son  
and heir, W illiam , being then aged 7. In 1548 a survey o f  the superior m anor o f  G reat B ook h am  
sh ow s W illiam  C astleton  as h o ld in g  a tenem ent and four v irgates o f  land in P o lesd en  “ late o f  
T hom as Slyfield once o f  John P ollesden” (P .R .O . E. 36/168) and , in 1562, he is m entioned  in the  
G reat B ookh am  C ourt R olls as being due to  pay a relief for  “ certain lands in P ollisdon  L acy ,” 
the earliest m ention  o f  the “ L acy” suffix. H e and E lizabeth , his w ife, are m en tion ed  in 1572 and  
1584. T hom as C lay’s Survey o f  B ook h am , 1614/1616, sh o w s anoth er W illiam  C astle ton  (probab ly  
the son  o f  him  previously  m entioned) as h o ld in g  P o lesd en  as a freehold  o f  391 acres, paying  
rent o f  32s. a year and suit o f  court, p lus heriot and  relief. T he m ap ind icates a sm all farm house  
o f  L plan, in no way com parable w ith Slyfield as it then  w as. In 1630, W illiam  C astle ton  and  
his w ife, P hoebe, conveyed  the m anor to  A n th on y  R o u s and A n n e, h is w ife.
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A n th o n y  R o u s w as a relative o f  F rancis R o u s the Parliam entary leader o f  the C ivil W ar 
period  w h o  becam e Speaker o f  C rom w ell's “ packed” Parliam ent o f  1653, and w ho was 
nom inated  by the P rotector to  sit in  the L ords but died before the writ was issued. A nthony  
R ou s m ust at once  have set abou t bu ild ing a new  house as a residence for h im self, for the house  
w hich sto o d  on th is site until the early part o f  the 19th century w as dated 1631 above the m ain  
entrance (as sh ow n in the illustration  reproduced from  a draw ing in  the M inet Public Library), 
and th is is confirm ed by the G rangerised co p y  o f  M anning and Bray in the British M useum  
(P rin ted  B o o k s. C rach. I , T ab. 1 -3b, V ol. X V , page 691). T he e levation  sh ow n at the top  o f  this 
draw ing faced  eastw ards; the right-hand portion  o f  the e levation  sh ow n beneath faced sou th , 
the build ings to  the left o f  it being  later add ition s. It seem s clear from  the draw ing that no part o f  
th e  m ediaeval h ou se  survived th is rebuild ing. O ne w onders w hether A n thon y R ou s survived  
to  enjoy  his new  h ou se , for an A n th on y  R o u s, Clerk o f  the P ipe o f  the E xchequer, died 20th  
January, 1631/1632 and w as buried at F etcham  Church. T he P olesd en  R o u s w as succeeded by 
h is son , Sam uel, w h o  is recorded frequently  at B ook h am  from  1656 to  1685, and the ind ications  
are that Sam uel w as very yo u n g  in 1631. M rs. A n ne R ou s, w id ow  o f  A nthony, w as in 
o ccu p a tio n  o f  P o lesd en  in 1674, w hen  she w as taxed  o n  12 hearths. “ M r. R o w se” (presum ably  
her son , Sam uel) w as taxed  on  on ly  tw o , and w as possib ly  liv ing elsew here in B ookham . In 
1680, Sam uel R o u s (n o w  described as J.P .) w ith  E lizabeth , his w ife, m ade conveyance o f  the 
m anor and , in 1685, settlem ent u p o n  his daughert, E lizabeth , o n  her m arriage to  T hom as H arris 
o f  G rays Inn (M archam , S u rrey  D eeds, pages 181, 182). She survived Harris and married 
secon d ly  E dw ard Sym es o f  St. A n drew  H olb orn . In 1713, Edw ard Sym es and his w ife suffered a 
recovery o f  the m anor; th is w as probab ly  a  legal transference to  the second  m arriage. E lizabeth  
Sym es survived her secon d  husband and , in 1723, jo in tly  w ith T hom as H arris, the son  o f  her 
first m arriage, so ld  P clesd en  to  A rthur M oore o f  F etcham  Park. T he youn ger H arris was an 
a ttorn ey  at D o rk in g . It is un likely  that A rthur M oore, the celebrated econ om ist w ho co u ld  not 
m anage h is o w n  eco n o m y , ever lived  at P o lesd en , for it w as at abou t th is tim e that he was 
engaged  in the profuse expenditure o n  his F etcham  house w h ich  ultim ately  led to  his ruin. In  
1729, a year before his death , he so ld  P olesden to  his brother, C olonel T hom as M oore, w h o had 
been Paym aster o f  the land forces in M inorca and in the garrisons o f  D unkirk and G ibraltar. 
C o lo n e l M oore  is sa id  to  have lived  at P olesden  for a tim e, but he had  m oved  away by 1733 
(,Su rrey  C oun ty  R .O . S .C . 3 /89). H e died  in  1735 and  there is a m onum ent to  him  in G reat 
B o o k h a m  church w hich, th o u g h  a fine p iece o f  statuary, depicts him  rather rid iculously habited  
in R om an  m ilitary costu m e and  in an extrem ely aw kw ard posture. A ccord in g  to  a paper in the  
B o d le ian  L ibrary (M S . N orth  c. 14, f. 19) th is m onu m en t w as m ade by Carter. O ther papers 
relating to  P o lesd en  are scattered throu gh ou t the N o rth  Papers in the B odleian , including build ing  
accou n ts (M S . N orth  c .62). T hese latter refer to  the erection o f  the w estern w ing added to  the 
so u th  side w ith  the p o ly g o n  room  beyon d  it, designed  by Jam es Stedm an, w hich are to  be seen  
in  the low er h a lf o f  the illustration  from  a draw ing in the M inet P ublic Library. The add itions, 
carried out betw een  1735 and  1748, m ust have been executed  for W illiam  M oore, M .P ., for  
B anbury, son  o f  A rthur M oore o f  F etcham , to  w hom  P olesden passed on  C olonel M oore’s 
death. A ccord in g  to  M annin g  and Bray, W illiam  M oore lived at P olesden . On his death in 
1746 his executors were em pow ered  by A ct o f  Parliam ent to  sell his estates, including th is, to  
m eet h is debts; and  in the fo llo w in g  year P olesd en  w as purchased by F rancis G eary, C aptain  
R .N ., for a sum  o f  £5,500.

F rancis G eary  w’as a friend o f  L ord H aw ke and A dm iral B oscaw en . W hen B o scaw en ’s 
seco n d  son , W illiam , entered the navy, it w as to  G eary that B o scaw en ’s w id ow  entrusted  him  
(A sp inall-O gland er, A d m ira l's  W idow , 1942, page 15). A lthou gh  G eary spent a lon g  life o f  
service at sea , and  w as fortu nate  in tak ing  prizes, he never had the opportunity  to  distinguish  
h im se lf in any im portant engagem en t, th ou gh  he w as highly regarded by his contem poraries  
(C am p bell, N ava! H is to ry  o f  G rea t B ritain , 1818, V ol. VI, pages 185-196). Like A dm iral 
B rodrick  o f  B o o k h a m  G rove , he w as on e  o f  th ose  chosen  by B oscaw en (then at the A dm iralty) 
to  preside at the trial o f  the unfortu nate  A dm iral B yng. T he degree o f  intim acy betw een  
B oscaw en  o f  H atch lands, G eary o f  P olesden , and B rodrick o f  B ook h am  G rove is a m atter which  
sh o u ld  form  an interesting subject o f  naval research. Their residence, so  far inland, can now  only
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be explained by the proxim ity  o f  the L on d on  to  D o rk in g  road, w h ich  w as m uch used in the  
18th century by naval travellers from  L on d o n  to  P ortsm ou th . P resum ably “ T he A d m iral’s 
R o a d ” w as m ade to  enable G eary to  reach P olesd en  in his chaise  direct from  the top  o f  H a w k ’s 
H ill— and the nam e stuck. G eary rose to  becom e A dm iral o f  the W hite in 1778, and was created  
a baronet in 1782. A  picture o f  P olesden  in h is tim e is provided  by Jam es E dw ards’ Com panion  
fro m  London to  B righthelm ston. In  the part w ritten circa  1789 E dw ards says: “ A b o u t on e  m ile  
and a h a lf south  o f  G reat B ook h am  is P olesden , the seat o f  Sir F rancis G eary, B art., situated  on  
an em inence w ith a law n on  the accliv ity  o f  the hill, from  w h en ce y o u  have a diversified prosp ect 
to  the sou th  over a deep va le  w hich term inates at a sm all d istance by the rising h ills covered  by 
venerable beech w o o d s, and the fertile va le  co n sistin g  o f  a beautifu l assem b lage o f  trees, fields  
and cottages, co m p o ses an agreeable scene. A  narrow  p rosp ect through the vale to  the east is 
very exten sive.” It was probably during G eary's tim e that the m agnificent terrace walk (then  
900 feet in length) was constructed , for the date 1761 is engraved  on  its foun dation  wall. G eary’s 
eldest son , C ornet F rancis G eary, w as k illed in an am bush w hilst lead in g  a tro o p  o f  G eneral 
B urgoyne’s Light D ra g o o n s in D ecem ber 1776 during the A m erican  W ar o f  Independence. A  
fine m onum ent in G reat B ook h am  church depicts the incident. A dm iral Sir F rancis G e a r y  died  
in 1796, aged 86, and his second son , Sir W illiam  G eary, w as shortly afterw ards e lected  M .P. for  
K ent and m oved to  his estate at O xonh oath . H e im m ediately  leased  P olesd en  to  R ichard  
Brinsley Sheridan, w h ose  trustees n egotia ted  for  the property and com p leted  the purchase  
in 1804.

Jam es E dw ards, in the second  part o f  his C om panion fro m  London to B righ thelm ston, 1801, 
describes the road a long  the top  o f  the D o w n s from  D o rk in g  to  G uild ford , and at 2 m iles  
I quarter 56 rods from  a poin t near the K in g’s H ead , D o rk in g , rem arks: “ A  w hite h ou se (the  
seat o f  the late Sir F rancis G eary, B art.), ca lled  P o lesd on , lies a b ou t 1 m ile north  from  hence. 
It appears over a w o o d  situated  on  an em inence, and  has been described in page 41 o f  th is w ork  
[the circa  1789 portion]. Sir F rancis died in 1796, and  his son , Sir W illiam , the sam e year was 
ch osen  K night o f  the Shire for the cou n ty  o f  K ent, after w hich he so ld  his estates in Surrey. 
P olesd on  w as . . . .  occu pied  by R ichard Brinsley Sheridan, E sq ., m em ber o f  P arliam en t.”

The large m ap o f  the parish o f  G reat B ook h am , surveyed in 1797/1798, sh ow s that the east  
front o f  the old  m ansion o f  1631 w as abou t 90 feet lo n g ; a lso  that Sheridan w as already in 
occu pation , and that the pleasure grounds extended  on ly  to  the bottom  o f  the valley  sou th  o f  the  
house. T he fields and  cop ses o f  the far slop e  had n ot then been land scap ed  but were farm ed; 
the eastern end (400 feet) o f  the terrace w alk  had  n ot yet been m ade.

A ccord in g  to  the Annual B iography, 1817 (qu oted  in A P icturesque P rom enade R ound  
D orking, 1822), the estate  was purchased by Sheridan’s trustees in 1804, chiefly w ith the fortune  
o f  Sheridan’s second  wife, E sther Jane (daughter o f  D r. N ew to n  O gle, D ean  o f  W inchester), 
w h om  he married o n  27th A pril, 1795. In the particulars o f  the sa le o f  1804 to  Sh eridan’s trustees  
it is stated that the m ansion house and land com prised  a b ou t 341 acres, and that the terrace w alk  
in the gardens was 900 feet in length. T he purchase w as m ade pursuant to  the M arriage Settle­
m ent betw een R ichard B rinsley Sheridan and E sther Jane O gle, daughter o f  the R ev. N ew to n  
O gle, D .D ., D ean  o f  W inchester and Susanna, his w ife, form erly Susanna T hom as, on e  o f  the  
three daughters o f  the Rt. R ev. John , B ish op  o f  W inchester, deceased  (w h o  left property by w ill 
o f  28th N ovem ber, 1778).— D eed o f  24th A pril, 1795 (copy  a m o n g  P olesd en  title , deposited  by 
the N ation a l Trust at Surrey C ou nty  R ecord O ffice). It w ou ld  be an im pertinence to  recapitu late  
here the life o f  Sheridan, fam ous orator and dram atist (auth or o f  The C ritic , The S chool fo r  
Scandal, The R ivals, e tc.) and c lose  friend o f  F o x  and the Prince R egent. It is suff.cier.t to  point 
out that during the tim e that he ow n ed P olesden  he w as Treasurer o f  the N a v y  in the G overnm ent  
o f  “ all the ta len ts” 1806/1807, and at the height o f  his fam e, th ou gh  con stan tly  fighting a rear­
guard action  against his creditors. H e appears to  have taken a keen interest in  P olesd en , to  
have been fond  o f  p laying the squire (n o t un like so m e m en o f  a sim ilar kind in our ow n  tim e), 
entertained his tenantry, and form ulated  schem es for  rebuild ing the h ou se and  im provin g  the  
grounds. T he lon g  terrace w as extended  under M rs. Sh eridan’s d irection , and w e m ay surm ise  
that the Sheridans were responsib le a lso  for the o b v io u s land scap ing  o f  the valley below  the  
house, so  m uch in the m anner o f  H um phrey R ep ton  and so  h igh ly successfu l. By the tim e o f
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S h eridan’s final illness and death  in 1816 he had so  pulled the o ld  h ou se  o f  1631 about that it 
becam e a heap o f  ruins (E dw ard C hurton, The R a ilroad  B ook, 1851, page 263) on ly  fit to  be 
d em olished , as perhaps Sheridan h im self intended. O ne o f  Sheridan’s grand-daughters (“ the 
three graces,”  children o f  his so n , T o m ) m arried C aptain B la ck w o o d  o f  B ook h am  L odge. M ary 
H ow itt in her au tob iograph y (1889) has a curiou s story w hich relates h ow  she and her husband, 
w hilst driving near B ook h am  in July 1837, w ere accosted  by tw o  you n g  w om en dressed as 
gypsies, w h o  so licited  alm s. T hey proved to  be H elen  Selina Sheridan (the H on. Mrs. B lack w ood) 
and her youn ger  sister, the D u ch ess o f  Som erset. M rs. B lack w ood  w ou ld  then have been 30, 
and it seem s rather late in youth  for such a jeu  d 'esp rit  on her part, but it m ay h a \e  been a sort o f  
pastich e  bergere  in the m anner o f  M arie A n to in ette  and the Petit T rianon. Mrs. B lackw ood was 
afterw ards C ou n tess o f  D ufferin  and  C ou n tess G ifford.

T w o  years after Sh eridan’s death in 1816, the estate w as purchased by Joseph  B onsor. H e  
p u lled  dow n the ruins o f  the o ld  h ou se  and, in  1824, built another to  the design o f  T hom as  
C u b itt, the m aster builder w h o had am assed  a fortune by lay in g  o u t B elgravia and w ho, 30 years 
later, w as to  bu ild  (shortly  before h is death  in  1855) a h ou se  for h im self on  the other side o f  the 
P olesden valley at D enb ies. T he ch ief feature o f  this new  h ou se w as its co lon n ad e o f  e ight Ion ic  
co lu m n s on  the sou th  front, w hich rem ains to  th is day, thou gh  m ost o f  the C ubitt h ou se has 
disappeared. B on sor  died in 1835 and w as succeeded  by his son , a lso  nam ed Joseph . A b o u t the  
m iddle o f  the 19th century, the estate  w as b o u g h t by Sir W alter Farquhar, B art., o f  w h om  all 
that I k n ow  is that he appears to  have been a T em perance R eform er (v ide  M . C. T urner’s Saunter  
Through Su rrey , 1857, page 204). H is daughter, M ary B lanche, w as the second  w ife o f  the  
2nd L ord R aglan  (son  o f  the C rim ean com m an der)— a p h otograp h  o f  G reat B ook h am  H igh  
Street decorated  for  the w edd in g  (in 1871) is extant. O n F arquhar’s death in 1896, P olesden  was 
bou gh t by Sir C linton  E. D aw k in s , K .C .B ., and it is m uch to  be regretted that h is desire to  have  
a larger h o u se  led him  to  practically  destroy the p leasant C ubitt h ou se (except for the Io r ic  
co lo n n a d e) and to  bu ild around  it a new  h ou se  to  the designs o f  Mr. A m b rose Poynter. This is 
the h ou se  w hich w e see to -d a y , som ew h at m ellow ed  by tim e, com fortab ly  su iting its surroundings, 
but to o  c losely  fenestrated and lack in g  the relief o f  plain w all surfaces to  its exterior.

In 1906 the estate  w as purchased  by C aptain  the H on . R o n a ld  F ulke-G reville  and his wife, 
the on ly  daughter o f  R t. H o n . W illiam  M cE w an, Scottish  m illionaire and Liberal M em ber o f  
Parliam ent. C aptain  G reville  died in 1908, and the last chapter o f  P o lesd en ’s history as a private  
h ou se is c losely  w oven w ith  the character, tastes and activ ities o f  his w idow . M rs. G reville  
entirely rem odelled  the interior o f  the h ou se , and added the rounded  bays to  each  o f  the w ings 
o f  the east front. O n the death o f  her father, she installed  at P olesd en  the w orks o f  art which  
she inherited  from  h im , to  w h ich , in due course, she added  considerably . Mrs. G reville w as a 
w om an  o f  great strength  o f  character, w h o  lived  very m uch at the centre o f  th ings and w as in a 
p o sitio n  to  form  accurate jud gm en ts o n  the course o f  current events, so  that she exerted c o n ­
siderable influence u p on  the socia l and politica l life o f  her tim e. H er h ou se parties at P olesden  
w ere ren ow ned  (there is an am usin g  accou n t o f  one o f  them  and an excellent character study o f  
Mrs. G reville  in Sir O sbert S itw ell’s Laughter in the N e x t R oom , 1949, pages 43-45, 155-158), 
and she had the gift o f  bringing togeth er peop le  o f  diverse social background in an easy a tm os­
phere. A m o n g st th ose  w h o  were her guests at P olesden were K in g  Edw ard VII, K ing G eorge V 
and Q ueen M ary, E dw ard Prince o f  W ales, and K in g  G eorge  VI and  his con sort w h o spent there 
the first part o f  their h o n ey m o o n . M rs. G reville  and her circle m irror the last phase o f  the W hig  
aristocratic period  in E ngland , w h ich  disappeared so  poign antly  in  1914 just w hen, after a 
pro lon ged  and som ew h at coarse  m iddle period , it had com m enced  to  flow er once  again w ith such  
rich prom ise . L ike a dying fire, a few  sparks g low ed  in to  life again  after the first G erm an war, 
am on gst them  P olesd en  and  its chatela ine. It is probab le that she foresaw  the inevitab le changes  
w hich  were to  co m e and that she had the courage and integrity o f  m ind to  face them , for when  
she died in 1942 she left her w h ole  P olesden  property o f  1,000 acres, the house and its co llections, 
w ith  a large end ow m en t, to  the N a tio n a l T rust as a m em orial to  her father; w ith  the d irection  
that the gardens sh ou ld  be regularly open  to  the public and  that the h ou se sh ou ld  be sh ow n  as a 
furniture and  picture gallery. A s on e  w alks round the g littering state  room s, w ith  their  
su m p tu ou s furn ish ings o f  eclectic  E dw ardian taste , on e  senses that here is crystallised  for ever
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The Old House in 1631, from  a drawing in the M inet Library

that cultured co sm o p o lita n  w orld to  w hich she belon ged , w h ich  w ent dow n in to  the m ud and  
b lood  o f  the F landers Plain betw een 1914 and 1918. O n the other hand, the gardens and pleasure  
grounds have the sp aciousness and grace o f  the 18th century, and they probab ly  reflect the life  
c f  the G earys and Sheridans w ith som e rem inder o f  M rs. G reville’s foreign  v isits in the form  o f  
ston ew ork  o f  Italian origin. Mrs. G reville  lies buried in a yew  a lcove  near to  the house.

Mrs. G reville’s co llection  o f  pictures, now  perm anently part and parcel o f  the property, are 
o f  better general quality  than th ose  foun d  in m any country  h ou ses and  were o b v iou sly  selected  
w ith the advice o f  an expert. In the d in ing ro o m  are E nglish  portraits by L ely, R ichardson , 
R eynolds, Raeburn and Law rence; and in the hall, corridors and elsew here, are D u tch  pictures  
by R uysdael, T erborch, Pieter de H o o ch , van G o y en , van  der H eyden , T eniers and C uyp. On  
the stairw ay is a fine co llectio n  o f  Italian 16th-century m ajolica , in the hall is the reredos by Sir 
C hristopher W ren from  St. M athew ’s, Friday Street, L o n d o n , and in the upper part o f  the hall 
hang three 17th-century panels o f  M ortlake tapestry and three panels o f  Brussels tapestry. In 
the d ining room  is a co llectio n  o f  17th-and 18th-century silver.

There are three elem ents w hich contrib ute  to  the m aking o f  every E nglish  country  h o u se—  
the land around it, the h ou se itse lf and the co n tin u in g  m ark w hich  all th ose  w h o  have lived  in 
it have left on  the place. P olesden , like so  m uch e lse  that is beautifu l in E ngland, w as born o f  
privilege. From  the privilege o f  w ealth  and p o s itio n  arose our country  hou ses, and from  the  
privilege o f  co p yh o ld , and later enclosure, arose our w onderfu l pastoral scenery. W here privilege  
is m atched by duties there is m uch to  be said for it, even if  there is a lso  m uch against it. There are 
lessons to  be learnt from  history, but on e  that our age has n o t learned is th is; for we perhaps are 
to o  busy pu lling dow n the old  edifice o f  privilege, and erecting new  privileges w h ich  have no  
duties attached , so  that they are im m ediately  considered  as rights. But P olesden has passed out 
o f  the area o f  this conflict, and its lovelin ess is availab le for the refreshm ent o f  E nglish  m en and  
w om en; to -d ay , tom orrow , and for alw ays.

I should  not have been able to  a ttem pt th ese  articles on  B ook h am  G rove  and P olesden  
w ithou t the help  o f  Mr. John H arvey, F .S .A ., w h ose  k n ow led ge  o f  the history o f  B o o k h a m  is 
unrivalled. I f  they conta in  in form ation  n ot to  be fou n d  in print elsew here, the credit m ust be 
his and I m ost gratefully acknow ledge it. T he S o c iety ’s records have a lso  proved o f  great value  
and assistance.
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ADDENDA AND CORRIGENDA to
PEN SKETCHES OF OLD HOUSES IN THIS DISTRICT
N o. 3.— THE M A N S IO N , L E A TH E RH EA D. (Proceedings, Vol. 1, No. 7)

It will be remembered that I put forward arguments for believing that Edmund Tylney, Master o f  
the Revels to Queen Elizabeth I, lived at The Mansion. I am pleased to say that this hypothesis has now 
been confirmed as fact by the researches o f Mr. F. Bastian, a member o f this Society who has been working 
on the history o f local families and who has examined the Court Rolls o f  Pachenesham, 1576-1602, 
which came to light and were deposited in the County Record Office in 1955. By relating an entry in 
these to other documents, Mr. Bastian was able to show that a strip o f copyhold land lay between 
The Mansion and Devonshire Cottage, and that this copyhold land was let by licence (granted to Richard 
Rogers, freehold owner at that date o f  Devonshire Cottage) dated 3rd October, 1588, to Edmund Tylney. 
The land is described in the licence as “ to the north o f the house of the said Edmund.”

Mr. Bastian has also drawn my attention to Chancery Bills and Answers, Bridges, 421/216, by which 
it appears that Charles Howard, 2nd Earl o f Nottingham, was, in fact, owner until his death in 1642, 
and was succeeded in title by his widow, Mary. When she died, the property went to Charles Cokaine 
(probably her nephew) and later to Cokaine’s son, Bryen, Viscount Cullen, who sold it to Anthony 
Taylor, in whose possession it was in February 1662/1663. By comparing the Surrey Hearth Tax returns 
for 1664 and 1674, Mr. Bastian has shown that in 1664 Anthony Taylor was in possession of The 
M ansion, but that in 1674 Alexander Akehurst was the owner. This is a much earlier date than hitherto 
known for Akehurst’s ownership and it, incidentally, throws grave doubt upon the legend that Judge 
Jeffreys visited The Mansion in 1688 when in fear o f arrest, and upon occupation o f The Mansion by 
the Bludworth family. Local legends, however, often contain truth; and it may be that though Akehurst 
owned the house from 1674 until about 1738, he had let it to the Bludworth family. As Mr. John Harvey 
has pointed out, “ swapping” o f country houses was quite a usual feature. Nevertheless, the cellars o f 
Thorncroft (which undoubtedly belonged at that time to the Bludworths) would provide a much better 
hiding place than those o f  The M ansion, if  indeed, at the particular date o f the visit, Jeffreys needed to 
hide at all, which is in doubt (see M ontgomery Hyde, Judge Jeffreys, 1948).

N o. 4.— N O R B U R Y  PARK , M ICK LEH AM . (,Proceedings, Vol. 1, No. 8)
Mr. John Harvey, F .S.A ., has pointed out to me that there can be no doubt at all that the site o f  

the old manor house o f Norbury is that now occupied by The Priory; for Rocque’s map, which was 
surveyed a few years before William Lock built the new mansion on the hilltop, shows an extensive 
house on the Priory site, marked Norbury. This house is described, some 12 years after the older part had 
been demolished, in an article in the Gentleman's Magazine, 1787, as appearing to be one of the oldest 
family residences in Surrey, being built o f  wood with plaster panels. Incidentally, the name Priory is a 
mistaken transfer from the fact that the Norbury estate includes certain parcels o f land which at one 
time belonged to Reigate Priory, as shown in the Tithe Award Map of 1838.

I offer apologies for a foolish error in speaking of the description o f the walnut trees in John Aubrey’s 
H istory o f  Surrey. If this description was written by Aubrey himself it cannot date from as late as 1700, 
for Aubrey collected the main part o f his Surrey material in  1673 and died in 1697. It may emanate from 
his editor, Rawlinson, who used other material without acknowledgment. All that one can say with 
certainty is that it first appeared in print in 1718/1719. Even so, the figure o f 40,000 trees must be suspect, 
for the article in the Gentleman's Magazine, 1787, quoted above, states that at fourpence a tree the fruit 
would produce £100, which indicates 6,000 trees. Nevertheless, James Edwards, in his Companion from  
London to Brighthelmston (section written circa 1789) repeats the story o f  40,000 trees.

In my article I wrote that there was no evidence that Anthony Chapman lived at Norbury when he 
acquired it from the Tryons; but the Gentleman's Magazine article o f  1787 says that he resided there for 
som e time. It therefore seems probable that he was living in the old manor house from 1766 until he sold 
the estate to Lock in 1774, and as he truly seems to have been a land speculator he may well have cut 
down the walnut groves.

I should have mentioned that there is a description by William Gilpin of Barrett’s mural paintings 
in the Norbury drawing room. It is to be found in his Observations on the Western Parts o f  England, 1798, 
and in it he says that the landscape on the south wall depicts the real view towards Box Hill and Dorking.

James Edwards (op. cit.) mentions that Lock’s new mansion was supplied with water raised from a 
depth of 361 feet by a horse-operated engine constructed by a Mr. Cole near Westminster Bridge.

Alexandre d’Arblay and his wife moved from Phoenice Farm to Fairfield House (now called The 
Hermitage) at Bookham, apparently in 1794 before the birth o f their son, and stayed there until late in 
1798 or early in the following year, when they moved into Camilla Lacey.

As a footnote to the purchase o f Norbury by the County Council in 1930, it should be mentioned 
that in 1932 the freehold o f the house and grounds and about 40 acres o f the park were purchased from 
the County Council by Dr. Marie C. Stopes who is the present owner and occupier o f the house. The 
rest o f the park remains the property of the County Council and is well served by numerous footpaths, 
though there is not public access to the whole on account of agriculture and shooting. F. B. BENG ER.
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ASHTEAD AND ITS HISTORY—Pt. IX
By A. W. G. Lowther, F.S.A.

The Early Stuart Period (1603-1660) and 
John Lawrence’s Map of Ashtead (1638)

TO return to  the m ain story, after the digression m ade by the last tw o  articles o f  th is series, 
we now  co m e to  the E arly Stuart period  and  will consider the h istory o f  the m anor and its 

tenants during the reigns o f  Jam es I and C harles I (1603-1649) during the C om m on w ealth  and  
up to  the R estoration  (1660).

O f course, there is little  evid en ce o f  the b ig even ts o f  E nglish  h istory during th is eventfu l 
period to  be seen reflected in the records o f  A sh tead , even  for the period o f  the C ivil W ar. 
A shtead  w as far rem oved  from  any fighting, or even such m inor sk irm ish ing as th a t w h ich  to o k  
place during the running fight through E w ell (in July 1648), th ou gh  it is o b v io u s that these  
events m ust have had som e effect o n  the lives o f  m o st o f  the tenants, as I w ill exp lain .

F or the period under review , a fairly co m p lete  run o f  “ court ro lls” is still in ex isten ce, 
though w ith on e  or tw o m inor gaps (e .g ., the records for the 13 years 1620-1633 and the six  years 
1646-1651 are m issing) so  that it is easy to  ob ta in  an idea o f  the changes w h ich  to o k  p lace from  
the business transacted at these M anorial C ourts. T he arrival in the area o f  certain new  freehold , 
or co p yh o ld , tenants can  be n o ted  th ou gh  very o ften , as in the case o f  the S ty d o lf  fam ily  c f  
H eadley, they resided outsid e the parish and rented from  the Lord o f  the M anor (or the Lady  
o f  the M anor m ore exactly , as at this period the w idow ed A n n e, C ou n tess o f  A rundel, ow ned  
A shtead  M anor), certain land w hich  adjoined  their ow n  properties.

T hom as S ty d o lf is the first o f  th is fam ily to  be m entioned  as h o ld in g  land here, in 1599; 
he w as fo llow ed  by Sir F rancis (?  his son ) in 1604. O n Sir F rancis S ty d o lf’s death , in 1655, his 
A shtead property passed to  his “ only  son  and next o f  kin" (as the court rolls tell us) “ Richard  
Stydolf, E sq .” T his freehold  property, we learn, w as held at on ly  a n o m in a l rent o f  four pence  
per annum , and co n sisted  o f  a b ou t 36 acres called  “ K in g ’s G ro v e ,”  “ P u lverland ,” and  “ Jane’s 
F ield ,” and w hich we can identify from  the surviving m ap o f  1638.

A lth ou gh  they lived  outsid e the m anor and , apart from  the land w hich  they held  here, can  
have had little to  d o  w ith A shtead , the S ty d o lf fam ily, or fam ilies (ow n in g  as they did both  
M ickleham  and H eadley M anors), are w orthy o f  m ore than a passing m ention . A lso  there is a 
m atter concerning  on e  o f  the fam ily , a certain W illiam  S tyd olf, w h ich  seem s to  have a specia l 
bearing on the state o f  affairs during the Civil W ar and C om m on w ealth .

H e, W illiam  S tyd olf, is first m entioned  in the A shtead  rolls in 1638 and  as a freeho ld  tenant, 
but h is h o ld in g  is not ind icated on  the L aw rence m ap w hich w as prepared in  that very year. 
W hat is m ore strange is that in  the court rolls there is n o  ink ling  as to  w hat part o f  the m anor  
he held, either o n  his adm ission  (?  in 1638) or on his death (in 1666 or 1667). H is nam e just  
disappears, though that o f  h is w id o w  is m entioned , for tw o  further years, and then  it, to o , 
disappears, and again w ithou t any exp lanation .

It is likely that a detailed study o f  the d ocum ents concern ing  H ead ley  M anor, w h ich  have  
recently been deposited  in the m unim ent ro o m  at K in g sto n , w o u ld  exp la in  the p o s itio n , but 
this is w ork w hich  still rem ains to  be done. M eanw hile, on e  can on ly  n o te  the fo llo w in g  p o in ts  
obtained from  the A shtead  docum ents, plus on e  or tw o  other sources.

Sir Francis S ty d o lf and his so n , R ichard, were both  “ R oy a lists” and, no dou bt for special 
services to  the K ing, R ichard w as created a baronet on the R estoration . W illiam  S tyd olf, on  the  
other hand , is treated very differently for, from  1660 until h is nam e disappears, th e  “ esqu ire”  is 
om itted  from  after his nam e (w hich is n o t even hon oured  w ith  the suffix “ gent") and w hich  now  
is relegated to  a p o sitio n  lo w  in the list o f  tenants, am ongst the “ lesser fry” o f  the m anor. It is 
therefore perhaps fair to  conjecture that he w as a  “ R o u n d h ea d ,”  and th a t he fell from  grace  
w hen Charles 11 cam e to  the throne and w hen Sir R ichard S ty d o lf (w hom  the A shtead  d ocum ents  
sh ow  to  have been absent) returned to  h is property.

A  list o f  th ose  w h o paid  “ co m p o sitio n s” (i.e ., fines for  their return) o f  “ sequ estered” 
estates (dated  1655) includes that o f  W illiam  S tyd olf, w ith  relation  to  H ead ley  M anor, and  the
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paym ent o f  £1 ,746 , a considerable  sum  o f  m oney for those days and far in excess o f  other  
paym ents in the cou n ty  w ith few  exceptions. O ne is (subject to  the results o f  further research) 
inclined to  co n clu d e  that W illiam , in effect, “ purchased” the estates o f  his royalist kinsm an, but 
that he w as ousted  from  them  at the R estoration . H e m ay, o n  the other hand (as w ith several 
fam ilies w h ich  had  m em bers on  both  sides in the C ivil W ar), have been acting in co llu sion  with  
his relative and d o in g  h is best to  preserve the fam ily estates intact.

A n o th er  fam ily  w h ich  at this period  obta ined  som e A shtead  land , and retained it for several 
generations, w as that o f  the M ynnes o f  E psom  (m anors o f  H orton  and, later, W ood cote). They  
retained the freehold  tenancy  o f  a piece, o f  abou t 15 acres (on  the east side o f  Farm  Lane, and  
also  b ou nd ed  by the E psom  R oad and the A sh tead -E p som  boundary), w h ich  rem ained w ith the 
fam ily until, on  the death in 1652 o f  G eorge M ynne, it passed, w ith the W ood cote  property to  
Richard E velyn , w h o had m arried G eorge  M yn n e’s daughter, E lizabeth.

O ne o f  the m ore im portant, and , to  us, m ore interesting, o f  the p eop le  w h o  cam e to  A shtead  
at this period  w as the co p y h o ld  tenant Mr. John Pepys (spelt on  the Law rence m ap, “ Mr. 
P eeps,” but correctly  in the court ro lls, w h ich  is n o t surprising seeing that the Stewards o f  
the M anor, G eorge  D u n cu m b e, E sq ., circa  1590-1650, and , after him , Sir Edw ard Thurland, 
1650-1674, w ere both  law yers o f  d istin ction ). John  Pepys was a distant cousin  o f  the celebrated  
diarist Sam u el (o f  w h om  A rthur B ryant, the h istorian, has w ritten m uch in recent years) w hose  
diary w ill be k n ow n to  all readers, especia lly  th ose  passages in w hich Pepys describes how  he 
revisited  A shtead  and  the sp o ts w hich he kn ew  as a boy w hen stay ing  at his co u sin ’s house.

John Pepys ob ta in ed  his h o ld in g  in A shtead  in M ay 1637, by being granted the copyh o ld  o f  
land s w h ich, until then , had  been held  by a “ R ichard Turner, Senior, gentlem an .” H is daughter, 
Jane, m arried on e  John  Turner, Sergeant-at-law , and (accord ing  to  Bryant, The M an in the 
M a kin g , page 42) “ a w ealthy  Y orksh ire  law yer.”  P ossib ly  he w as connected  w ith the R ichard  
Turner w h o  form erly held  th is A shtead  property but, as the rolls w hich m ust have conta ined  the 
entries m ade w hen he ob ta in ed  it are lo st (i.e ., betw een 1619 and 1634) a possib le source o f  this 
in form ation  is m issing. A n y h o w , Sam u el’s co u sin , Jane Turner, is referred to  m any tim es in 
his diary.

T he P ep ys’ A sh tead  h o ld in g , sh ow n  clearly on  the L aw rence M ap, is thus described in the  
C ourt R o ll for 14th January, 1638:—

“ O ne m essuage, and  2 enclosures adjoin ing, called  Perrycrofte, and 3 enclosures . . . .  
facin g  upon  G riggs L ane at the sou th  en d  and upon the east, ca lled  R id o n s” (the present grounds 
o f  F orest L odge) “ co n ta in in g  in all a b ou t 27 acres, and 5 acres and 3 rods o f  land lying dispersedly  
in the c o m m o n  fields, returning a rent per annum  o f  13/- and , by pannage, o f  2 /-. A nd, m oreover,
8 acres o f  land , recently M ichael R ich b ell’s, ly in g  d ispersedly in the com m on  fields o f  A shted  
and held  at an annual rent o f  3 /-, by app ortionm ent. A n d , in add ition  8 acres o f  land lying  
dispersedly in M arling P itt” (i.e ., the site  o f  the present “ W arren E sta te ,” including the old  
chalk  pit form erly used for “ m arling,” or lim ing, the fields o f  A shtead).

Certain lesser ho ld in gs, all o f  w hich are m ade over to  “ John Pepys Esquire and A nne his 
w ife ,”  are then  specified , togeth er  w ith  their rents w hich have to  be paid  to  the Lord o f  the  
M anor (H enry L ord  M altravers). T hese h o ld in gs include “ A  p iece o f  land lying in E astend o f  
A shted  adjacent to  the aforesaid  m ansion  (‘D o m u m  M ancion ali(s)’) and lead ing to an enclosure  
and a barn ca lled  B lakes Barne tow ards the w est, w h ich  very piece o f  land the Lady Elizabeth, 
recently Q ueen , at the court held here on  the 13th Sept. in the 33rd year o f  her reign, conceded  
to  John B row ne her servant and A lice  h is w ife and  their heirs, to  h o ld  at a rent o f  4d. per annum , 
paid  at the feast o f  St. M ichael the A rch an gel.”

It is interesting to  n o te  that the w h ole  o f  the property taken  over by John  Pepys was, in 
a dd ition  to  the p iece granted by Q ueen  E lizabeth  to  John  B row ne, held  by the latter at the date o f  
his death , in 1611, w hen  it passed  to  his nephew , anoth er John B row ne. (A  contem porary copy  
o f  the w ill o f  John  B row ne sen ior is still in ex isten ce, and g ives m uch usefu l inform ation , 
inc lu d ing  the new s that S ib ill, the sister o f  John  B row ne ju n ior , w as m arried to  one Jam es 
O tw ay, and thu s it exp lains the in tervention  o f  John B row ne in a d ispute, at a later date, betw een  
tw o  m em bers o f  the O tw ay fam ily .)
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LEATHERHEAD AND DISTRICT LOCAL HISTORY SOCIETY

Account for the Year
Dr £ s. d. £ s. d.
To Balances at 30.9.54—

General ............................................. 80 11 11
Library F u n d ............................................ 18 1 2

98 13 1
„ Subscriptions—

158 at 7s. 6d. (including £3 16s. Od.
received in 1 9 5 4 ) ............................... 59 5 0

11 at Is. (Junior M em b ers)................. 11 0
59 16 0

„ Subscriptions paid in arrear for 1954
(2 at 7s. 6 d . ) ............................................. 15 0

,, Subscriptions paid in advance for 1956
(12 at 7s. 6 d .) ............................................ 4 10 0

,, Surrey County Council G rant................. 15 0 0
„  Sale o f  the Society’s “ Proceedings” ... 3 16 8
„  D onations ............................................ 6 16 0
„  Interest on Bank Account ................. 1 9 6
,, Visits:

Receipts ............................................. 40 13 3
Expenses ............................................. 38 15 8

1 17 7

£192 13 10

Dr. £

L

s.

,ib;

d.
T o  Balance brought forward ................. . 18 1 2

£18 1 2

N ote . — The accounts do not include items for the value o f  archives, 
equipment and library.

S. E. D . FORTESCUE, Hon. Treasurer.

I 30th September, 1955
Cr. £ s. d. £ s. d.
By Printing and Duplicating .................  16 10 0

„  Postages, Stationery and Sundry D is­
bursements ............................................  1 0 1 5 3

„  Subscriptions and Affiliation Fees—
Surrey Record Society ................. 1 0 0
South Eastern U nion o f Scientific

Societies ............................................ 12 6
Council for the Promotion o f Field

Studies ............................................ 1 1 0

„  Printing the Society’s “Proceedings” for
1953 ..........................................................

„  Balance at Banks—
Library F u n d ............................................ 18 1 2
General ............................................ 88 17 6

„  Cash in Hand ............................................ 1 2 2
108 0 10

£192 13 10

F u n d

Cr. £ s. d.
By Balance carried forward (there have been 

purchases during the y e a r ) ...............................
no 
... 18 1 2

£18 1 2

Audited and found correct.
J. G. W. LEW AR NE, Hon. Auditor.

26th October, 1955.
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